
 
Park Commission   

Thursday, November 3, 2011                   
Meeting Agenda 

At City Hall  
7:00 P.M. 

 
Pursuant to Section 19.82 of the Wisconsin Statutes, notice is hereby given that the park commission of the city of Fitchburg, Dane 
County Wisconsin, will meet at 7:00 p.m. on Thursday, November 3, 2011 in the Meeting Room at the Fitchburg City Hall, 5520 Lacy 
Road, Fitchburg, WI 53711 to consider the following:      
 
(Note:  Full coverage of this meeting is available through FACTv and Streaming Video, 
 accessible on the city web site at http://www.city.fitchburg.wi.us/home_pages/media_archive.php ) 
 
1. Call to Order 
2. Approval of Minutes – October 6, 2011 
3. Public Appearances - Non Agenda Items 
           
4. Communication 
 A. Brynewood Resident letter 
 B. Community Center Use Policy Update 
       C. Seminole Glen Buckthorn Bonanza – October 22 
 D. Briarwood Prairie Invasive Removal 
 E.  Nobel Woods Project 
 F.  Gorman Wayside Update 

                
5. Review and Approve Agenda  
6. Discussion Nine Springs Parkland Dedication – Chris Armstrong 
7. Discussion/Action Draft McGaw Park Master Plan and Upcoming Meeting 

Schedule 
8.   Discussion/Action Mickelson Tree and Understory Survey – Ed Bartell City 

Forester/Naturalist 
9. Discussion/Action Resolution R-81-11 Recreational Fee Policy – Chad Sigl 

Recreation/CC Director 
10. Discussion/Action Resolution R-80-11 Approving Sale of State Trail Pass  
            Sales with the Friends of the Badger State Trail  
11. Staff Reports/Updates  

A. Recreation 
B. Forestry 
C. Parks 

12. Future Agenda Items 
A. Tree Preservation Draft Ordinance 
B. Woods Restoration Management Strategies 

13. Announcements As Allowed By Law 
A.  Next McGaw Park Master Plan Meeting will be held December 1st as part 
of the Public Hearing - Park Commission Meeting.  This meeting will be held 
in City Hall starting at 7:00 pm.    
  

14. Adjournment 
 
NOTE: It is possible that members of and possibly a quorum of members of other government bodies of the municipality may be in 
attendance at the above stated meeting to gather information.  No action will be taken by any governmental body at the above stated 
meeting other than the governmental body specifically referred to above in this notice.  Please note that, upon reasonable notice, 
efforts will be made to accommodate the needs of disabled individuals through appropriate aids and services.  For additional 
information or to request this service, contact Fitchburg City Hall, 5520 Lacy Road, Fitchburg, WI 53711.  608-270-4200.  



DRAFT Minutes 
Park Commission 

Thursday, October 6, 2011 
At City Hall  
7:00 P.M. 

 
Pursuant to Section 19.82 of the Wisconsin Statutes, notice is hereby given that the park commission of the city of Fitchburg, Dane County Wisconsin, 
will meet at 7:00 p.m. on Thursday, October 6, 2010 in the Meeting Room at the Fitchburg City Hall, 5520 Lacy Road, Fitchburg, WI 53711 to consider 
the following:      

 

DRAFT DRAFT DRAFT DRAFT DRAFT DRAFT DRAFT 
 

1. Call to Order   
 
 Tom Darcy, Chair called the meeting to order 7:01 P.M. 

In attendance: Alder Denise Solie, Christine Koth, Jacob Johnson, Aaron Richardson, Chad 
Sigl – Recreation/Community Center Director and Scott Endl - Director. 
 
Absent:  Mark Vivian and Glen Clickner  
 
People in attendance:  Patrick Cheney and others as listed under the agenda item in which they 
spoke.   

                        
2. Approval of Minutes – September 15, 2011 
            Jake Johnson moved to approve 9/15/11 minutes with changes to item #6: Patrick Cheney 

spoke in opposition of McGaw Park Master Plan, Christine Koth 2nd.  Motion Carried. 
 

3. Public Appearances - Non Agenda Items 
None 
      

4. Communication 
 A. Budget Update 

Scott reported that he presented the 2012 proposed PRF budget at a recent Finance 
Committee meeting - he further reported that the unfunded park maintenance position is 
proposed to be funded in 2012. 
 

 B. Library Box in Hillside Heights Park 
Ginny Koberstein, from the Hillsides Height neighborhood, has contacted Wendy Lawson 
of the Fitchburg Library to inform her of this project.  Wendy was very supportive.  
Ginny will be working with the Park Maintenance staff to have this Library Box installed. 

   
       C. Repair lower path at McKee Farms Park – see map in packet 

Scott provided pictures of this work which includes removal of the existing path, 
placement of a new culvert and installation of new blacktop. 

 
 D. Maintenance to McKee Farms Park Shelter 

Scott provided pictures of this work which included wood siding repair, re-caulking and 
painting. 
 

 E.  Fiduciary Development Project – Post Road  
Tom Darcy shared with the Park Commission preliminary discussion information for this 
project as it relates to city parks.  A future meeting, before the Park Commission, will be 
held to provide further details and information.   
 
 
 



F. Jamestown Park Plans 
Barb Peterson – 5803 Danville Drive, spoke in support of this continued effort to improve 
Jamestown and Western Hills Park.  She further indicated support for the City’s 
continued effort to provide additional park space for the Jamestown neighborhood.  Scott 
gave an update on work that is being done on both park improvement plans and 
additional park space needs. 
 
G. Seminole Park Woodlot 
Scott reported that a letter has been sent to all park neighbors to inform them of the 
woodlot work planned by the Seminole Forest Neighborhood Association.  This work 
includes an October 22nd Buckthorn Bonanza. 

 
5. Review and Approve Agenda 

Denise Solie moved to approve the agenda as written, 2nd by Aaron Richardson.  Motion 
Carried.    
 

6. Discussion Splash Pad Project – Joan Mohr (Optimist Club) Tom Thayer  
            (Tri-North Builders) 

Joan and Tom Thayer provided an update on this project.  This update included the 
Optimist Club work in promoting this McKee Farms Park Project.  Additionally, project 
support from Mr. Thayer and Tri-North Builders, was recognized.  A June 2012 date has 
been targeted for fundraising efforts.  These efforts include fund raisers, donations and 
grant applications.  The Park Commission was very appreciative of Mr. Thayer’s and 
Tri-North’s commitment to this community project. 
 
Scott further reported that this 2013 project will be partnered with other McKee Farms 
Park projects including possible dumpster enclosure and open air shelter adjacent to Kids 
Crossing. 

 
 No official action was taken on this item. 
 
7. Discussion/Action Recreational Fee Policy – Chad Sigl Recreation/CC Director 
 Chad provided information on this item including a copy of the draft fee policy, 

Fitchburg recreational program fee analysis, comparables in programs fees charged, and 
overall net budget effect on the City of Fitchburg. 

 
 This Recreational Program Fee Policy will be referred by the Common Council at their 

October 25th meeting. 
 
 No official action was taken on this item.   
  
8.   Discussion/Action Resolution R-71-11 Community Center Use Policy Update – Chad Sigl  
            Recreation/CC Director 
 Chad provided the Commission with a copy of the updated Community Center Use 

Policy.  Denise Solie moved to approve with an amendment to page 9 under 
EQUIPMENT RENTAL: the word “at” in the second sentence shall be changed to “in” to 
read:  Below is a list of equipment that may be rented for use “in” the Community 
Center. Second by Jacob Johnson.  Motion Carried. 

 
 
 
 
 



9. Discussion of Draft McGaw Park Master Plan Text and Upcoming Meeting Schedule 
 Scott provided an update on the meeting schedule for this project.  Scott reviewed briefly 

the McGaw Park Master Plan text document and asks Commissioners to review and 
provide comment.  The Open House scheduled for October 27th will be used to gather 
comments on this plans text along with ideas to previously discussed. 

 
 No official action was taken on this item. 
 
10. Discussion/Action Dogs in Parks  
 Scott provided draft referral and resolution for language amendment to current animal 

control ordinance.  This information will be sent to the Common Council on October 25th 
for referral and final approval on November 8th. 

 
 No official action was taken on this item. 
 
11. Staff Reports 
 A. Recreation 
 B. Forestry 
 C. Parks 
 
 See staff reports below. 
 
12. Future Agenda Items 

A. Tree Preservation Draft Ordinance 
B. Woods Restoration Management Strategies 

13. Future Agenda Items 
C. Tree Preservation Draft Ordinance 
D. Woods Restoration Management Strategies 
E. Coin Operated Lights at McKee Tennis Courts 
F. Dogs in Parks 

   
14. Adjournment  
                Aaron Richardson moved to adjourn, 2nd by Jacob Johnson.  Motion Carried 8:30pm 
   
  
 
  
NOTE: It is possible that members of and possibly a quorum of members of other government bodies of the municipality may be in 
attendance at the above stated meeting to gather information.  No action will be taken by any governmental body at the above stated 
meeting other than the governmental body specifically referred to above in this notice.  Please note that, upon reasonable notice, efforts 
will be made to accommodate the needs of disabled individuals through appropriate aids and services.  For additional information or to 
request this service, contact Fitchburg City Hall, 5520 Lacy Road, Fitchburg, WI 53711. 608-270-4200.  
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
Recreation Report 
Parks Commission 
October 2011 
 

• Fall Recreation Programs. 
o Sent out biweekly Youth Sports Newsletters via email which include current 

program offerings, registration information, program updates, etc. 
o Held soccer coaches meetings on September 7. 
o Finalized referee schedules for Flag Football, Soccer, and Adult Volleyball. 
o Met with Alex Betanelli to discuss offering a youth/adult chess tournament on 

Saturday, Dec. 3 
o Began contacting those individuals who expressed an interest in coaching a youth 

basketball team for the upcoming season.  
o Checked on Adult Volleyball Leagues on Monday & Thursday evenings at Stoner 

Prairie School. 
o Discussed new youth volleyball program ideas with Cindy Hanson. 
o Distributed soccer jerseys and picture day information to coaches. 
o Continued to work with Scott Lein, Oregon School District, on offering ski trips. 
o Began working on program write-ups for the next Newsletter. 
o Finalized program dates for the next session of Hatha Yoga/Yoga Core and Zumba 

classes. 
o Registered for the annual WPRA Conference to be held in Green Bay. 
o Met with Gary Tsarovsky to discuss potentially offering indoor soccer (futsal). 
o Distributed program flyers to Stoner Prairie & Leopold schools. 
o Spoke to Don Garmin about again supervising our Tuesday Adult Open Volleyball 

Program. 
 

• Misc. 
o Updated recreation website. 
o Submitted bills for payment. 
o Submitted payment to WPRA for the summer discount ticket program. 
o Attended Community Center Rental meetings. 
o Attended Facility Commander meeting. 
o Attended CC construction progress meetings. 
o Attended weekly Parks & Recreation staff meetings. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



CITY OF FITCHBURG 
Parks, Recreation & Forestry 

  
 
 
 

Parks Report 
October 2011 
 

 Continued to meet internally with Planning and Park Staff regarding the McGaw Park Master 
Plan Project. 

 Met with Public Works Maintenance Staff and Wendy from the Library to discuss winter 
maintenance plans. 

 Met with Recreation and Senior Center Staff to discuss updates to the CC use policy due to 
addition/renovation. 

 Met with residents of Harlan Hills Park – they are interested in continuing the implementation 
of the Harlan Hills Park Master Plan. 

 Met with Johren and painting contractor at McKee to discuss work that will be done at McKee 
Shelter. 

 Met with Ed and Seminole Glenn Park neighbors regarding some volunteer work in the 
Seminole Glen Park woods. 

 Met with the Doug Eilenfeldt family who is looking to possibly purchase a memorial bench in 
Swan Creek Park. 

 Met with teachers and students at Eagle School to discuss possible implementation plans of the 
Gunflint Park prairie. 

 Presented the 2012 PRF operating budget proposal to the joint Board of Public Works/Finance 
Committee meeting. 

 Met with Fitchburg Police Department to gather their feedback on safety issues related to the 
McGaw Park Master Plan project. 

 
Division Jan. Feb. Mar. April May June July Aug. Sept. Oct. 
Parks    

Snow plowing operations: Trails/parking 
lots/sidewalks 

X X X    

Ice Rink Maintenance X X    
Forestry- Train Pruning, Removals, ect. X X X   X 
Mowing operations X X X X X X  
Mulching Trees / Playgrounds X X X X X  
Weed eating / Spraying X X X X X  
Park Improvements X X X X X X X X 
Daily Monitoring of Park Maintenance X X X X X X X X X X 
Playground Safety Inspection X X X X X X  
Trash Removal from Parks X X X X X X X X X X 
Cemetery Work, Grave Locating  X X X X X X X X X X 
Check Bathrooms Daily X X X X X X X X 
Turf/Athletic Field/Ball Field Maintenance X X X X X 
Tennis Court resurfacing as needed X X X 
Water Trees as Necessary X X X X  
Fleet Records Update/Maintenance X X X X X X X X X X 
Budget & Capital Plan X X X X X X 

 
Respectfully 
Scott Endl 
 
 



 

CITY OF FITCHBURG 
Parks, Recreation & Forestry 

5520 Lacy Road 
Fitchburg, WI  53711 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
October 17, 2011 
 

 
RE:   Invasive and Weedy Tree and Brush Removal on Fish Hatchery Road. 
 
  
Dear Brynewood Resident, 
 
The City Parks and Forestry Department has recently received a request to remove invasive, 
weedy trees, and brush in the right-of-way along the east side of a homeowner’s rear property line 
on Fish Hatchery Road. The Parks Director and I have inspected the site and feel it would be 
beneficial to clean up not just behind their home but to remove all the woody vegetation along 
east property lines from Byrneland Street to the southern edge of the development. 
 
The cleanup will take place later this fall or winter (after November 7, 2011).  If you have any 
questions or concerns, please contact Scott Endl, Parks Director at 270-4288 or 
scott.endl@city.fitchburg.wi.us or Ed Bartell, City Forester/Naturalist at 270-4289.  We are 
happy to meet you on site or schedule a group meeting to discuss the project. 
 
 
 
Cordially, 
 
 
 
Edward Bartell 
City Forester 
 
 

cc. Brynewood Neighborhood Association President Bekky Kunesh 
Alder Becky Baumbach 
Alder Steve Arnold 
Mayor Shawn Pfaff 
City Administrator Tony Roach 
 
2524, 2520, 2516, 2512, 2508, 2534, 2530 Targhee Street 

                     
 
 

















10/26/11 Draft
McGaw Park 
Master Plan

Prepared By Fitchburg Planning and Parks 
Departments 

Adopted:                                
Latest Amendment: 



Intentionally Left Blank.



Mayor of  Fitchburg
Shawn Pfaff

Plan Commission
Carol Poole

James Anderson
Becky Baumbach

Ron Johnson
Ed Kinney

Tony McGrath
Mark McNally

Planning and Zoning Staff
Thomas Hovel, Zoning Administrator/City Planner

Jason Schmidt, Resource/Project Planner
Susan Sloper, Community Planner
Aaron Widmer, Planning Intern

Parks, Forestry, and Recreation
Scott Endl, Parks, Rec. and Forestry Director

Ed Bartell, City Forester
Dana Dentice, Landscape Architect Intern

 Acknowledgments
Common Council

Steve Arnold
Becky Baumbach

Richard Bloomquist
Dorothy Krause

Carol Poole
Denise Solie
Patrick Stern

Swami Swaminathan

Park Commission
Tom Darcy

Glen Clickner
Jacob Johnson
Christine Koth

Aaron Richardson
Denise Solie
Mark Vivian



Page 
              Number
Chapter One: Introduction
Plan Purpose              1 - 2
Park Location and Facilities            1 - 2
Role Within the City                 1 - 5 
Role Within the Parks and Recreation System              1 - 9
Historic Development of  the Park                          1 - 16
Conclusion                  1 - 30

Chapter Two: Goals, Objectives and Policies
Goal 1: Recreation Opportunities               2 - 2
Goal 2: Protection of  Natural Resources                  2 - 3

Chapter Three:  The Master Plan
Planning Sequence                 3 - 2
Plan Elements                  3 - 3

Chapter Four: Natural Resources, Transportation, and Utilities
Natural Resources                 4 - 2
Vegetation                                                              4 - 2
Water                                                                           4 - 5
Soils                                         4 - 5
Topography                                                              4 - 7
Wildlife                                                              4 - 9
Transportation                                         4 - 9
Motor Vehicle                                                                                                                                 4 - 11
Bicycle and Pedestrian                                                                                                                    4 - 13
Utilities                                                                                                                                           4 - 14
Electric and Gas                                                                                                                             4 - 15

Chapter Five: Implementation
Introduction                  5 - 2
Plan Adoption                  5 - 2
Implementation Recommendations               5 - 2
Implementation Funding Sources               5 - 4
Plan Update                  5 - 4

 Table of  Contents



Appendix and References 
Appendix A: Original Vegetation of  Wisconsin                                                                    A - 2
Appendix B: Tree and Vegetation Survey - McGaw Park and S. Johnson Park                                A - 3
Appendix C: WI DNR Safe Nitrate Levels in Drinking Water                                                        A - 16
Text, Map and Graphic References               R - 2
Photograph References                                                                                                                   R - 4

Tables and Graphs
Facilities and Improvements at McGaw Park                Figure 1-2        1 - 4
Population Forecasts: 2020 - 2030                  Figure 1-3        1 - 5
Shelter Reservations        Figure 1-7        1 - 12
Baseball Diamond Use                   Figure 1-8        1 - 12
Total City Reservations        Figure 1-9             1 - 14
Citywide Field Reservations        Figure 1-10        1 - 14
Citywide Shelter Reservations        Figure 1-11        1 - 14
Tree Species Composition of  McGaw Park     Figure 4-2        4 - 4
McGaw Park Soils        Figure 4-4               4 - 7
McGaw Area Forecasted Traffi c Patterns      Figure 4-9        4 - 11
Recommended Implementation Timeframe     Figure 5-1        5 - 3

Maps and Aerial Photographs
McGaw Park Location        Figure 1-1        1 - 3
Future Growth Map                                          Figure 1-4        1 - 7 
McGaw Park Neighborhood Map                  Figure 1-5             1 - 8
McGaw Service Area Map       Figure 1-6              1 - 10
View From High Point of  McGaw Property      Figure 1-12        1 - 17
McGaw Park Vegetation and Topography      Figure 1-13          1 - 17
McGaw Vegetation         Figure 1-14          1 - 18
1973 Aerial Photo - McGaw Park       Figure 1-15        1 - 18
1980 Air Photo                               Figure 1-16             1 - 21
1990 Air Photo         Figure 1-17           1 - 25
1995 Air Photo         Figure 1-18           1 - 26
2000 Air Photo         Figure 1-19         1 - 27
2005 Air Photo         Figure 1-20             1 - 28
2010 Air Photo         Figure 1-21         1 - 29
Fitchburg Park Service Areas       Figure 3-1        3 - 3
McGaw Park Master Plan       Figure 3-2           3 - 7
McGaw Park Vegetation and Water       Figure 4-1            4 - 3
McGaw Park Soils        Figure 4-3               4 - 6
Air Photo Emphasizing McGaw Park Topography    Figure 4-5         4 - 7
McGaw Park Topography        Figure 4-6               4 - 8
View of  Madison Skyline from McGaw Park      Figure 4-7         4 - 9
McGaw Area Forecasted Traffi c Patterns     Figure 4-8        4 - 10
Traffi c Patterns        Figure 4-10        4 - 12
McGaw Park Nitrate Levels                  Figure 4-11         4 - 15



Intentionally Left Blank.



 

Chapter 1: Introduction 



McGaw Park Master Plan

Introduction

 1-2

Plan Purpose

This document represents a Master Plan for McGaw Park, one of Fitchburg’s 
two community parks.  This plan will be used by policy makers and city staff to 
help direct and guide facility, use, and recreation improvements to McGaw Park.  
As growth in the City moves east, as directed by the Fitchburg Comprehensive 
Plan, changes will come to McGaw Park.  The plan is intended to be fl exible 
and resilient so that uses can adapt to changing needs and circumstances.  In 
this sense, the plan is an organic document intended to provide adaptability, and 
is developed in a manner to avoid a focus on “present-time” thinking that may 
limit opportunity, creativity, and future uses, features or amenities.  Recreational 
needs, desires, and use patterns change or are altered by a variety of ever changing 
factors—demographics, economic, and cultural.  Geo-caching, community 
gardens, and disc golf are relatively new public demands in the history of outdoor 
recreation, while others, such as softball, baseball, and in-line skating have seen 
a peak in their participation.  Of greater importance is the overall active nature of 
a park use and how the activity level works within the constraints imposed by the 
natural and cultural situations present in the park and its surrounding area.  The 
Goals, Objectives and Policies (Chapter 2) have been formed to refl ect fl exibility 
and adaptability, yet at the same time recognize community recreation needs.

Park Location and Facilities

McGaw Park, which comprises 63.7 acres, is located in east central Fitchburg, just 
south of Lacy Road, and about halfway between Fish Hatchery Road and County 
Hwy MM.  Figure 1-1 provides the location of McGaw Park within the region. 

The park was developed to accommodate large groups and allow recreation with 
four softball fi elds and a shelter.  These main features are served by parking lots 
that provide 265 stalls.  Four volleyball courts and two tennis courts, soccer fi eld, 
youth ball fi eld, play equipment, half-court basketball, almost 900 feet of paved 
trail, round out the primary park facilities (Figure 1-2).  

Even though McGaw Park is now in the urban service area, it lacks public water 
and sanitary sewer service to its shelter.  The septic system and private well 
provide some limitations to the shelter and overall service capabilities.

While park facilities are often static, outdoor recreation is not and some level of 
adaptation may be required to address changing circumstances.  The 2011—2016 
Wisconsin Outdoor Recreation Demand Report, (WIDNR, 2011) reports on 
activity levels in the state.  The most popular outdoor activity in the state is 
walking for pleasure, with 87.7% of the persons participating in that activity.  
Gardening and landscaping, view/photograph natural scenery, outdoor family 
gatherings, and visits to nature centers are also popular, all having participation 
levels of 60-70% of state residents.  However, once popular activities, such as 
softball and baseball have declined 43% and 60%, respectively, between 1994 
and 2009.  Soccer, on the other hand has increased 715%, and football increased 
202% in the same time period.  The shape of the sporting fi eld is changing from a 
diamond to a rectangle.



McGaw Park Master Plan  1-3

McGaw Park

McKee 
Farms Park

0 0.5 1 1.5 20.25
Miles

Ü
Legend

McGaw Park

Fitchburg Parks

Streets

Fitchburg City Limits

Neighboring Townships

Figure 1-1:  McGaw Park Location



McGaw Park Master Plan

Introduction

 1-4

Figure 1 - 2: Facilities and Improvements at McGaw Park as of 
April 2011

Facility / Improvement Number or capacity

Park shelter with restrooms 100 person gathering

Softball fi elds (lighted) 4

Youth ball (baseball) fi eld 1

Lacrosse/football, soccer fi eld 1

Sand volleyball courts 4

Basketball 1 half-court
Parking areas 3 areas, 265 stalls

Tennis courts 2

Play equipment 1 unit

Paved Trail 893 feet

Unimproved surface trails 1.5 miles

Prairie/tall grass Various locations, 3.5 ac

Landscaping 243 signifi cant and mature

Park Identifi cation signs 2
 Source:  2010 Comprehensive Park, Open Space, and Recreation Plan 

Handball has seen an increase as well, and is popular with the growing Hispanic 
population. While Wisconsin had a modest 6% population increase between 
2000 and 2010, the state’s Hispanic population increased 74% in the same time 
period, driving the state’s overall population growth.  Fitchburg’s Hispanic 
population increased over 200% in the same period of time.  Certain activities 
saw a large increase in fi rst time participants in 2009.  Traditional and non-
traditional triathlon’s (80%), and climbing walls (24%) are just two of those 
activities (WIDNR, 2011).  

Figures also show a changing recreation scene.  For example, the 2011--2016 
Wisconsin Outdoor Recreation Report notes that snowshoeing declined over 
26% in the state between 1994 and 2009 (WIDNR, 2011).  However, a national 
report indicated that snowshoeing saw a 17.4% increase from 2008 to 2009 
(2010, Outdoor Foundation).  Therefore, the activity may be on an upswing after 
a long downward spiral, with the upswing not refl ected in the fi fteen year term 
state fi gures, or the state does not currently mirror the national activity trend.  

The point of this brief discussion is to show that recreation use demand changes 
over time, and that fl exibility and adaptability is important.  While softball may 
be in decline, football and soccer have increased.  Both demand open turf space, 
and often the outfi eld of a softball fi eld can be used for a soccer fi eld.  The key to 
park planning is to recognize the alterations in activities, realize change occurs, 
and that static facilities can lead to a decline in park activity.  State and national 
trends are one factor to consider.  The use and demand fi gures show state or 
national trends, not local.  A discussion on some basic local trends will occur 
later in this chapter.  Another factor is how the park will be affected by City 
growth.  



McGaw Park Master Plan

Introduction

1-5

The following information provides an understanding of the role of McGaw Park 
within the City through current and planned growth; its role within the recreation 
system; and the historical development of the park.

Role within the City

The City of Fitchburg currently comprises 35.16 square miles.  By 2022, part of 
the Town of Madison will become part of Fitchburg, increasing the City area to 
35.43 square miles.  The predominant area of the Town to be added to the City of 
Fitchburg is the Southdale Neighborhood, which is east of USH 14 and south of 
the beltline.  The 2011 United States census provided a Fitchburg population of 
25, 260 persons, which is close to the Comprehensive Plan estimate of 25,477.  
Thus, the estimates of population growth for the community completed in 2003 
are quite accurate.  This is a 23.2% increase from the 2000 population.  As noted 
in Figure 1-3, City population growth is anticipated to grow by about 5,000 
persons each decade.  The Town of Madison area which will become part of 
Fitchburg had a 2010 population of 1,368.

Figure 1-3: Population Forecasts (2020 - 2030)

Year Population

2000 Census 20,501

2010 Projections 25,477

2010 Census 25,260

2020 Projections 30,431

2030 Projections 35,386
Source:  2009 City of  Fitchburg Comprehensive Plan

Note:  these population estimates were prepared in 2003 
and do not refl ect the Town of  Madison area to become part of  Fitchburg. 

The geographic distribution of the expected population growth is also important.  
The City Comprehensive Plan sets forth a long-term (50+ year) growth 
boundary for the community.  The approved boundary focused on several key 
principles outlined by the Common Council.  Many of these principles focus 
growth along key transportation corridors in eastern Fitchburg—principally the 
east rail corridor.  Of the future urban growth neighborhoods identifi ed in the 
Comprehensive Plan, (Figure 1-4) all but two are east of Fish Hatchery Road, and 
of the total growth area of 3,286 acres, 2,703 acres are in the possible six growth 
areas east of Fish Hatchery Road.   This includes the McGaw Park Neighborhood 
which will surround McGaw Park.

The northern portion, or about 398 acres, of the McGaw Park Neighborhood was 
added to the urban service area in August 2010.  The McGaw Neighborhood Plan 
was undertaken as a resource based plan.  The plan provides signifi cant measures 
to protect wetlands and to provide suitable water infi ltration to mitigate runoff, 
maintain base stream fl ow, and recharge groundwater to offset the affects of 
well water withdrawal.  Figure 1-5 is the McGaw Park Neighborhood  plan map 
indicating proposed park expansion, landuse and transportation corridors.  



McGaw Park Master Plan

Introduction

 1-6

The McGaw Neighborhood Plan served as the basis for an urban service request 
for the 2010 urban service amendment, which was approved in 2010.  The south 
boundary of the amendment area follows the quarter section line for sections 13, 
14 and 15.  All of McGaw Park is now in the urban service area.  The amendment 
area also includes the rural residential Tarpleywick area to the east of McGaw 
Park, which is 22 acres in size and accommodates 29 rural residential dwellings, 
although there are 33 lots.  The overall urban service area adjustment includes 
an anticipated 119 acres of park, open space and environmental corridor area.  
Of the 119 acres, approximately 17 acres is proposed as an effective addition to 
the west and south sides of McGaw Park. Land is also proposed to be attached 
to the south edge of Johnson Park, which will provide some benefi t to McGaw 
Park.  Additionally, 5 acres of environmentally sensitive land is noted in the 
McGaw Neighborhood Plan; this area is at the southeast corner of the park.  The 
plan notes a total of 32 acres added to McGaw, but this includes trail and linear 
connections that are not part of the effective land area for McGaw Park, but rather 
form connections between McGaw Park and other existing or planned public 
spaces.

The northern 23 acres of McGaw Park were added to the urban service area  in 
October 2002 as part of the Dommers View urban service area request which 
brought in the NW1/4 of the NW1/4 of section 14.  As discussed above, the 
southern 40 acres of McGaw Park and all of Johnson Park were added to the 
urban service area in August 2010.  While McGaw Park is in the urban service 
area, the park shelter is currently served by its own well and a private sewage 
disposal system (septic system).  

Urban growth in the City is being directed to the City’s east side and 
consequently, this growth will create recreation demands for McGaw Park.  The 
recreation and service facilities of the park will need to adjust and change in order 
to better adapt to a growing community.  While McGaw was the fi rst established 
community park in the City, its role over the past twenty years has become 
secondary to the establishment and development of McKee Farms Park, which 
is in an urbanized area of the community and is more visible due to its location 
near the main travel corridors of McKee Road (CTH PD) and Fish Hatchery Road 
(CTH D).  As City growth moves east, it is imperative to recognize the changing 
situation that will face McGaw Park and the new opportunities and challenges 
that will arise.   



McGaw Park Master Plan  1-7

H
w

y 
14

URBAN

     
     

FITCHBURG

North Stoner Prairie
307 acres

McGaw
525 acres

Greenfield
596 acres

Northeast
612 acres

East Hwy 14
353 acres

Study Area
273 acres

Southeast
344 acres

Ü

0 0.5 1 1.5 20.25
Miles

Souh Stoner Prairie
287 acres

Fitchburg Parks

McGaw Park

Legend
Fitchburg City Limits

Urban Service Area

Figure 1-4:  Future Growth Map

Source: Fitchburg Comprehensive Plan



McGaw Park Master Plan 1-8

Growth M
odel

#* #* #* #*#*#*#*#*#*#* #* #* #*#* #* #* #*#*
#*

#*#*
#*

#* #*

#*#*#*

#*

#*

#*

#*
#*

#* #*
#*#*

#*#*#*#* #* #* #* #*
#*#*#*#* #* #*

#*#*#*
#* #*

#* #*

#*

#*
#*

#* #*#*
#* #*

#*#*
#*

#*
#*#*#*
#*

#*#*#*#*

#*

#* #*#*#* #* #*

#* #*
#*

#*
#*

#*

#*
#*#*#*

LACY R
D

SYENE RD

IRISH
 LN

CAINE RD

S FISH HATCHERY RD

US Hwy 14

CHERYL PKW
Y

NO
BEL D

R

RESEARCH PARK DR

Q
UARRY HILL DR

SUNFLOWER DR

McGAW RD

W
ILDHEATHER DR

FAHEY GLN

MICA RD

BLANEY RD

SYENE RD SYENE RD

WISCONSIN & SOUTHERN RAILROAD

City of Fitchburg, W
I

0
1,500

3,000
750

Feet

Adopted: June 9, 2009

M
aps prepared by TAI | M

ARS | NRC | TAD
GIS m

ap files provided by City of Fitchburg & Capital Area RPC
°

Transit
Station

M
cG

aw
 Park

(existing)

Johnson Park
(existing)

(excludes open space
outside of study area)

City-O
w

ned
Retention

BP
51 ac

ES
8 ac

M
U

57 ac
R2

14 ac
R1

53 ac

I
10 ac

PO6 ac
R1

35 ac
ES
9 ac

ES
67 ac

BP
36 ac

TO
D

57 ac

TS
5 ac ES
3 ac

TO
D

19 ac
R2

10 acES
8 acR1
22 ac

ES
5 ac

M
U

4 ac
R1

13 acR2
68 ac

PO
49 ac

PO
32 ac

Figure 1- 5: M
cG

aw
Park

N
eighborhood Plan

Tem
porary

Basin

LEGEN
DStudy Area Boundary

Transit Station

Residential (m
inim

um
 average density of 10 du/ac)

Residential (m
inim

um
 aveage density of 5 du/ac)

M
ixed Use (Office/Residential)

Transit O
riented D

evelopm
ent

Parks &
 O

pen Space

Existing Parks

Environm
entally Sensitive Areas

Business Park

Institutional

Proposed Roads

Existing Path (RPC)

Existing Path

Proposed Path

Greenway/Pedestrian Trail

#*
H

eritage Trees

#*
Specim

en *

W
etlands

W
etland Buffer (75 ft)

W
etland Buffer (300 ft)

Creek/W
aterway

Drainageway

N
on-N

avigable D
rainageway

TSR2R1

M
U

TO
D

POESBPI

Source: M
cG

aw
 Park N

eighborhood Plan p. 8-2

Figure  1-5: McGaw Park Neighborhood Map



McGaw Park Master Plan

Introduction

1-9

Role within the Park and Recreation System

Following commonly accepted park planning procedures, the City’s park and 
recreation system follows a hierarchical arrangement.  Most parks are classifi ed 
according to community, area and neighborhood park hierarchy, and each level 
below is provided in the higher classifi cation.  The park classifi cation system is 
based on the area and population a  park is intended to serve, with a ¼ mile radius 
for neighborhood parks, ½ mile for area parks, and a 2 ½  mile for community 
parks.  Facilities become more varied as the service area increases.  Figure 1-6 
maps the service area for McGaw Park.

McGaw Park is a community park, and has a service radius of 2 ½ miles.  The     
2 ½ mile service radius is not a recent development in planning for McGaw Park.  
A 1974 study evaluating the feasibility of McGaw Park commented that “Since 
the proposed park was to be used to meet the needs for a town-wide facility, a      
2 ½ mile service radius was envisioned” (Goldin and Rubin, 1974, p. 3).  The 2 ½ 
mile service radius for community parks is a standard long recognized in planning 
for parks in Fitchburg.  

McGaw also serves as an area park for persons within a ½ mile radius and as 
a neighborhood park for those within a ¼ mile radius.  Johnson Park, which 
borders the southeast edge of McGaw Park, is the neighborhood park for some 
nearby residents to the east of McGaw Park.  McGaw will also need to function 
as a neighborhood park for some development to the west.  Park planning service 
radii also have to consider man-made or natural impediments.  For example, a 
major drainageway or storm water pond can effectively make a neighborhood 
park within a ¼ mile radius a much longer distance away, reducing its capability 
to serve as a neighborhood park. A ¼ mile radius is not only a neighborhood park 
service territory, but is the commonly accepted walking distance, or pedestrian 
shed.  Community parks, however, have such a large territory that certain 
impediments are not as important since driving or biking is a common method of 
travel to attend a function in a community park.  

As Fitchburg’s fi rst community park, McGaw also serves as a major playfi eld for 
softball due to its four lighted softball diamonds.  Its service as a softball complex 
should be no surprise, since Goldin and Rubin (1974, p. 3) report that one of the 
two main reasons Fitchburg was selective in a size (desiring over 40 acres) and 
location (desired in the north ½ of the Town) of a community park was due to a 
“decision of Madison to allow only city residents to participate in summer softball 
leagues.” (Madison adult recreation is, and was, organized by the Madison School 
Community Recreation program, which is operated by the Madison Metropolitan 
School District. Thus only Fitchburg residents in the Madison School District 
would be allowed to participate in Madison leagues.) 



McGaw Park Master Plan 1-10

McGaw Park

McKee 
Farms Park

0 0.5 1 1.5 20.25
Miles

Ü
Legend

1/4 Mile Service Radius

1/2 Mile Service Radius

2 1/2 Mile Sevice RadiusArea Parks

Community Parks

Neighborhood Parks

Other Fitchburg Parks and Facilities

Streets

Neighboring Townships

Fitchburg City Limits

Figure 1-6:  McGaw Park Service Area

Source: City of Fitchburg Planning Department. 2011



McGaw Park Master Plan

Introduction

1-11

Complimenting McGaw Park’s playfi eld and major recreation facilities is McKee 
Farms Park, which provides a major soccer facility, community playground (Kid’s 
Crossing), ice skating, and six lighted tennis courts.  In developing its community 
parks, the Park Commission has taken an approach of complimentary, rather than 
fully competing major facilities.  However, there are overlaps to be expected 
since each park also serves as a neighborhood or area park, as well as provides 
basic community park facilities.  For example, the main community tennis courts 
(six lighted) are at McKee Farms Park, while McGaw provides two non-lighted 
tennis courts in its role as an area park.  Similarly, McKee provides two softball 
fi elds, to serve some area and community recreation need, but the main lighted 
fi elds are located in McGaw Park. As population and recreation facility demand 
increases, there may be more overlap than presently occurs.  Up to this point 
growth and demand has allowed for some complimentary development. McGaw 
Park’s softball fi elds are recognized in the region as some of the better facilities, 
as they are or have been used by Edgewood College, Badger State Games, and 
(ironically) Madison West High School.

Park shelters are often the primary focal point for a community park.  Unlike a 
neighborhood park, where the use is by neighbors, community parks draw from a 
large radius and thus need to provide ample rest, bathroom, and water availability, 
but also protection from precipitation, sun, and other elements.  A shelter adds 
organization to a park, and provides rental and use opportunities to a variety of 
groups (e.g. families, churches, scout groups, civic organizations, and businesses 
to accommodate social and recreational gatherings). Beyond community events, 
the shelter provides basic services to those who rent or use the fi elds, play areas, 
and other facilities in the park.  These persons could be participating in organized 
recreational or non-recreational programming, or be just a few individuals who 
gather to play and socialize. 

One way to understand McGaw Park’s role in the city recreational system is to 
offer a few comparisons with the other community park, McKee Farms.  As noted 
earlier, uses in the parks often compliment each other so the data while not fully 
comparable, will nonetheless provide an indication of the park’s use and activity.  
The following fi gures indicate shelter and diamond use for each of the community 
parks between 2004 and 2010.

 



McGaw Park Master Plan

Introduction

 1-12

The above Figure 1-7 indicates that reserved shelter use at McGaw Park has 
leveled off, while it is seeing growth at McKee Farms Park.  Reservations for 
both parks decreased in 2008 and 2009, possibly due to the national recession.  
McGaw shelter use has continued to see annual declines, although slight, since 
2007; McKee Farms saw a major increase in use for 2010.  Insuffi cient data is 
present to set forth a long term trend, but the quality of the McGaw shelter may be 
affecting rental rates.  Recognizing the higher demand of the McKee Farms Park 
shelter, the rental rate of its shelter is higher than that for McGaw.  One would 
expect that as development occurs around McGaw Park, that shelter reservations 
will increase.  But, shelter use may also relate to other amenities in the park.  As 
home of Kid’s Crossing, McKee Farms Park has a built in attraction for young 
children.  Shelter rental cannot necessarily be divorced from park facilities and 
amenities.
 
          

Figure 8: Baseball Diamond Use

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

Year

Nu
m

be
r

McGaw
McKee

  

Source:  Fitchburg Parks Department

Figure 7: Shelter Reservations

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

Year

Nu
m

be
r

McGaw
McKee

Source:  Fitchburg Parks Department

Figure 1-7: Shelter Reservations

Figure 1-8 Baseball Diamond Use



McGaw Park Master Plan

Introduction

1-13

McGaw Park continues to lead in use of diamonds, likely due to having more and 
lighted diamonds than McKee Farms Park.  Usage has been variable but overall 
it does not show a major decrease in trends at this point.  Use by girls softball is 
likely offsetting a potential decline in use by organized adult leagues.  The McKee 
Farms Park fi gure also includes fl ag football reservations when that activity used 
the outfi eld area for fl ag football.  As noted earlier, football has seen an increase 
in participation statewide, and this may account for part of the large increase 
between 2009 and 2010 in McKee Farms Park.  McGaw outfi elds have not yet 
been used for fl ag football, but as city population and development around the 
park grows, demand for overlapping use may increase. Field fencing of softball 
diamonds, however, may limit multi-use options.

McKee Farms Park has signifi cantly more use of tennis courts, soccer fi elds, 
and other uses on non-softball fi elds compared to McGaw.  McGaw has seen an 
increase in this type of activity, but it underperforms compared to McKee.  This is 
due to a few reasons.  First, McKee has more soccer fi elds; it was created at a time 
of soccer popularity, whereas McGaw was created at a time of softball popularity.  
Second, McKee Farms Park has six tennis courts, compared to two at McGaw, so 
it is better positioned for tournaments.  Finally, McKee Farms Park is more active 
due to its location in the urban service area and it has become a preferred park.  

Each park serves a particular purpose, and to a degree that purpose is tied to 
the development of each park.  McKee was a farm fi eld with little topographic 
variation, where McGaw has topographic variation and the non use areas have 
been left to transform to woods, affecting amenity and facility development 
in each.  Another aspect of use of the parks is recreational programming and 
community desires.

As shown in fi gure 1-9, the overall fi eld and shelter use within the City park 
system has seen a major increase in activity.  Overall, fi eld use increased by 
50% between 2004 and 2010, while shelter use increased 56% for the same time 
period.  Figures 1-10 and 1-11 graph the information in fi gure 1-9 to indicate 
overall trends.  Meanwhile the City population increased 14.7% from its estimated 
2004 population of 22,032 to its 2010 population of 25,260.   Therefore, park 
use is increasing at a higher rate than for the City population as a whole.  Even 
if one sport or activity is not increasing at a high rate, or is in decline, that is 
offset by an increase in another sport or activity.  The key is to recognize what 
change is occurring in a sport or activity and the need to be responsive to that 
change.  One major issue is that McKee Farms Park, at least according to shelter 
and diamond reservations, has had to bear an increasingly heavier load in activity 
over the past few years than has McGaw Park.  Additionally, confl icts emerge 
when neighborhood or area parks are called on to serve a larger role in the park 
system.  As City growth moves east, McGaw will see pressure for an increase in 
its facilities and amenities. 



McGaw Park Master Plan

Introduction

 1-14

Figure 1-9: Total City Reservations

Year Fields Shelters

2004 1134 199

2005 1644 239

2006 1374 260

2007 1742 318
2008 1971 281
2009 1546 250
2010 1703 312

Source:  Fitchburg Parks Department

Figure 1 - 10 Citywide Field Reservations

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

Year

Nu
m

be
r

Figure 1 - 11 Citywide Shelter Reservations

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

Year

Nu
m

be
r

Source:  Fitchburg Parks Department

Figure 1-10: Citywide Field Reservations

Figure 1-11: Citywide Shelter  Reservations

Source:  Fitchburg Parks Department



McGaw Park Master Plan

Introduction

1-15

In 2005, a community survey incorporating fi ve park and recreation activity 
questions was completed.  A survey report was prepared for the Fitchburg 
Planning Department by David Trechter, Denise Parks, and Shelly Hadley of 
the UW River Falls and UW Extension Survey Research Center in early 2006 
and provides some signifi cant information on park and recreation use in the 
community. Some fi ndings important to this plan will be reviewed here, but 
readers are encouraged to view the full report available on the internet (http://
www.city.fi tchburg.wi.us/departments/cityHall/planning/index.php).  The report 
notes that there were nine facilities or features for which 50% or more of the 
respondents either strongly agreed or agreed that it is something they would like 
to see.  These features were: nature paths (85%); natural area preserve (81%); 
skating rink (66%); cross-country ski trails (62%); botanical gardens (57%); dog 
park and indoor recreation center (each at 56%); and a swimming pool and a large 
centralized multi-use public open space (each at 50%) (Trechter et al, 2006 p. 
16)  Trechter notes that the results are interesting in that dog parks and botanical 
gardens have a narrower, but passionate base of support (Trechter et al, 2006, p. 
16).  In other words, the persons who rated these uses, rated them very high.

When asked to prioritize expansion of amenities or facilities, the highest priority 
was placed on multi-use trails which link parks, neighborhoods and provide 
connectivity to state trails.  Next came landscaping of certain parks, and third was 
golf, with many commenting that they favor expansion of the Nine Springs Golf 
Course (Trechter, 2006 p. 19).  Multi-use trails correspond well to results from 
an on-line survey in 2011, the March 2011 McGaw Park vision session, and state 
trends where walking is the top recreation activity.   

The 2005 survey also noted that recreational programs are well accepted with 
most fi nding the status quo satisfactory.  The two programs with the greatest 
number of participants were festivals and community concerts (57 and 45%, 
respectively), while the next three were adult and youth athletic leagues, and then 
volunteer clean up day programs (22%, 19% and 19% respectively) (Trechter, 
2006 p. 18).  With 22% participation, adult athletic programs are important to 
Fitchburg residents.  

The McGaw Park vision session held in March 2011 drew a group of 25 
participants who were asked, as part of the exercise, to complete a survey. Added 
to that was a nonscientifi c survey residents could complete on-line.  First, the 
residents like the wooded areas and trails, and the open space the park provides. 
Second, safety concerns were important with 44.6% citing it as a concern that 
limits park use.  Third, most participants in the on-line survey see expanded trails 
as an opportunity to develop the park. Over one-half of the participants felt that a 
trail system is one of the top four items that make a park worth visiting.  Finally, 
the condition of the shelter and its bathrooms was a major concern, second 
only to safety.  The survey participants desire a park that supports a variety of 
ages, interests and seasonal activities.  (Fitchburg, 2011, p. 1).  At the vision 
session, the most important issues were safety, maintenance of natural areas, and 
the park shelter.  Similarly, the participants also saw opportunity in multi-use 
trail development, updating the existing shelter and building satellite shelters, 
maintaining and restoring natural 



McGaw Park Master Plan

Introduction

 1-16

use trails, with trails being important for recreation.  Safety of the park can be 
enhanced by not only physical improvements, such as lighting, but also by an 
increase in variety and types of activities in order to bring more persons to the 
park.  McGaw is a community park, and enhancing that role will bring more and 
safe recreation opportunities to the community.

Historic Development of  the Park

McGaw Park was Fitchburg’s fi rst community park.  Prior to the acquisition and 
development of McGaw Park, Greenfi eld Park, a 10.8 acre area park, served as 
the de-facto community park.  In the early 1970’s, the Town of Fitchburg Park 
Commission set on a journey to purchase land for a community park.  This 
journey offers a great deal in explaining McGaw Park’s subsequent development. 

In 1973 city leaders had reviewed alternate sites for the fi rst community park, 
and engaged an appraisal of land owned by Samuel McGaw in section 14.  Mr. 
McGaw was in his 89th year when he accompanied F.J. Brown, the appraiser 
engaged by the town, on the inspection of the property in 1973.  Dommers View 
and Tarpleywick Hills had been platted but many of their lots were vacant at 
this point.  Brown noted that in 1972 the site was assessed at $16,400 for land, 
and $600 in improvements.  The 1973 Brown appraisal would provide a value 
of $95,500 for the 63.7 acre parcel (Brown, 1973).  Mr. Samuel McGaw passed 
away the following month, and his estate would provide a date of death value of 
$80,000 for the property (Dane County Title co., undated)

The McGaw property had not been farmed for years.  The appraisal comments 
that “this property has been left vacant with no production for a number of 
years”  (Brown, 1973, p. 1).  Photos of the site taken by Mr. Brown for the 1973 
appraisal would also indicate that the site was in a vacant state, and that tall 
grasses and some shrubs were the predominant ground cover for much of the 
site.  Pre-settlement vegetation cover in McGaw Park was prairie (Appendix A 
Presettlement Vegetation).

areas, and providing alternative recreation activities. The 2005 community survey, 
the on-line survey and the vision session provide consistency in regard to multi-



McGaw Park Master Plan  1-17

Source:  
1973, Brown 

 
Source:  
1973, Brown 

Figure 1-12: View From High Point on McGaw Property

Figure 1-13: McGaw Property Vegetation and Topography



McGaw Park Master Plan 1-18

Source:  
1973, Brown 

 
Source:  1973, 
Brown 

Figure 1-14: Photo showing McGaw Vegetation

 

Source:  
1973, Brown 

Figure 1-15: 1973 Aerial Photo of McGaw Park



McGaw Park Master Plan

Introduction

1-19

The photos on the previous page clearly shows little tree growth being present 
on much of the property.  Figure 1-15 confi rms the appraisal comment that the 
heaviest tree growth is located in the northwest portion of the 63.7 acre parcel.  
The appraisal notes that the north 10 acres are lightly wooded, mainly consisting 
of white oak, while the “balance is low brush and grassland”.  It further explains 
that the original fi elds at the time were clearly outlined by rundown fence lines 
which were then overgrown by small box elder trees.  A woodlot being confi ned 
to the far northwest corner of the property is confi rmed by the 1974 Town of 
Fitchburg Development Plan, which identifi es that northwest corner near the 
former farm house as woodlot (Town of Fitchburg, Map #7).   The land was 
fallow and was classifi ed as vacant except for its use by “local youngsters for 
mini-bike trails and in winter snow mobile riding” (Brown, 1973).  Near the dead 
end of Dommers Drive one can see an almost perfect oval that is likely the mini-
bike trail discussed by Brown. One area resident indicates that the oval was due to 
auto racing and not mini-bikes.  The area occupied by the high point, just south of 
Dommers View, has more shrub growth, which likely indicates that farming had 
ceased earlier than for other areas on the farm.  It is interesting that Mr. McGaw 
did not rent the farm fi elds to another farmer, or a canning company.  At the time 
of acquisition by Fitchburg, Vincent Lacy had material stored in the silo and asked 
to be given a chance to remove the silage prior to the town razing the structure.
 
While a small woodlot was present in the northwest corner of the property, its 
major asset may have been its topography.  The appraisal provided no photos of 
the woodlot, but did provide photos from the high point, and its commanding 
view.  Brown (1973) describes the site:  
 

Goldin and Rubin (1974, p. 7) comment that the moderately sloping hill provides 
a suitable location for a large shelter overlooking the Madison skyline.  Much 
of the site continued in its fallow state after purchase by Fitchburg; this led to 
the growth of brush and trees in previously farmed fi elds.  Over the next 40 
years a small woodlot would become a larger woodlot with underbrush.  A Tree 
and Vegetation Survey completed for the City Parks Department in June 2011, 
indicates predominant tree cover is composed of Black Cherry, Mulberry, Black 
Locust, Silver Maple, and Box Elder (see chapter 4 for additional information) 
(Healy and Sanders, 2011, p.3). Thus, over the past forty years this expanding 
woodlot is now primarily composed of scrub trees creating a pioneer forest 
situation.  Just as problematic, however, is the dense understory of honeysuckle 
and buckthorn producing conditions in which few species can survive. Hence, the 
ground is bare or moss covered.  Where there are breaks in the canopy to allow 
ground material, the ground vegetation is composed of invasive species, those 
primarily being garlic mustard and reed canary grass (Healy and Sanders, 20ll).

“Overall topography is considered gently rolling 
with the maximum elevation near the center of the 
property and gentle slopes down hill to the north 
and south property lines.  The property enjoys an 
excellent view in all directions from the top of a 
small hill.  This view includes most of the Madison 
skyline.”  



McGaw Park Master Plan

Introduction

 1-20

Upon Samuel McGaw’s death in October 1973, the land passed to his estate.  
During this time of transition, the Town engaged Goldin and Rubin to undertake 
an independent analysis of the site selection process and to identify design 
considerations for the site.  As noted earlier, the purpose for the park was to 
accommodate gatherings of substantial size, and what was termed the decision 
by Madison, to only allow Madison (school district) residents into their softball 
leagues.  The study also notes that in the early 1970’s there was a 45 acre park 
defi ciency in the Town (Goldin and Rubin, 1974 p. 6).  The Park Commission had 
a standard of 12 acres of parkland per 1,000 population (Rubin and Golden, 1974 
p.5).  The 1974 Development Plan (Town of Fitchburg, p. 1) notes the town had 
a population of 4,700 persons in 1970, a 63% increase over the 1960 population. 
However it also noted a current population of 7,100 which it detailed as “a rate 
of 51.3% in slightly more than two years” (Town of Fitchburg, 1978, p. 1).  Of 
the 12 acres/1,000 persons, fi ve of those acres were to be used for town-wide 
parks, fi ve for neighborhood, and two acres for subneighborhood parks (Goldin 
and Rubin, 1974 pp. 5-6).   It is not surprising that the town would have a large 
defi cit, as the requirement for dedication of parkland did not come about until 
1971.  Eventually Goldin and Rubin (1974, pp.12-13) agreed with the selection of 
the McGaw land as the community park site, but noted that the Park Commission 
should have identifi ed desired facilities before selecting a site.  However, Goldin 
and Rubin further commented that the varied topography of this parcel “will allow 
the placement of virtually any facility other than those requiring natural bodies of 
water” (1974, p. 13).

With confi rmation of the Samuel McGaw property as the site for the park, 
renewed interest in acquisition arose.  The town renewed its option on the 
property and reached agreement on a value of $80,206.32.  Fifty percent of the 
funding ($40,103.16) for the park came from the federal government’s Land and 
Water Conservation fund (LAWCON) for public outdoor recreation.  This would 
inextricably link this property to its use for public outdoor recreation.  The City 
share would come from the fee-in-lieu of land dedication requirement for new 
development.  This fee-in-lieu of parkland dedication was created with the park 
land dedication requirements in 1971.  Three years later Goldin and Rubin report 
(1974, p. 4) that the town already had $50,000 in this fund and was earmarking 
this money for the purchase of a community park.  With price and funding now 
set, the land was acquired from Samuel McGaw’s estate on March 18, 1975, with 
the deed recorded the following day.  The town could now begin to improve and 
develop the park. It is at this juncture that aerial photographs are helpful.  

Figure 1-16 shows that early park improvements consist of two ball diamonds, 
play equipment, tennis courts, a cul-de-sac at the end of Wildheather Drive, and 
a small parking lot off  that cul de sac.  Historical records indicate that most of 
these improvements received LAWCON funding as well.  The tennis courts could 
not be more than a few years old, but a 1981 letter from the Wisconsin DNR, 
following a site visit to determine the maintenance level of LAWCON funded 
improvements, noted the need for maintenance of the tennis court surface.



McGaw Park Master Plan  1-21

 Source:  4/22/1980 air photo, Planning Department file 

Figure 1-16: 1980 Air Photo



McGaw Park Master Plan

Introduction

 1-22

In 1980 LAWCON funding was also approved for phase II construction of 
a shelter with restrooms, ball diamond lighting and an exercise course.  The 
facilities have an emphasis on adult recreation, which is in keeping with the 
direction given by Goldin and Rubin (1973) who noted that they “were to design a 
town park which would emphasize more adult recreational activities and sports.”  
Goldin and Rubin (1973) presented a park program based on what residents of 
the community and parks department felt was needed in the park.  The list was 
written as:
 
 1. bicycle paths
 2. swimming areas
 3. playground
 4. ice-skating rink
 5. hiking trails
 6. small children’s play area
 7. tennis courts
 8. baseball and softball fi elds
 9. basketball court
 10. cross country ski trails
 11. football fi elds
 12. sled or toboggan run
 13. tetherball and volleyball
 14. shelter
 15. picnicking area
 16. parking facilities

Later Goldin and Rubin (1973) would group facilities in the following 
arrangements:
 
 A) Nature Center—in conjunction with Johnson Park\
  1) Trails, cross country ski trails
  2) Wooded Area Paths
  3) Nature Study
 
 B) Playfi elds
  1) Baseball; Football; Softball
  2) Tennis-Iceskating (sic); Volleyball; Basketball
  3) Playground; Tetherball
 
 C) Picnic Areas (2)
  1) Shelter; Small Children’s Playspace; Fireplace; sled &   
   Toboggan Run
  2) Tables, Small Children’s Playspace; Fireplace

These use categories are instructive to current planning efforts of grouping uses 
by like activity level.  If Goldin and Rubin prepared a specifi c park layout it has 
not been located.  



McGaw Park Master Plan

Introduction

1-23

Demographically, in the late 1970’s the fi rst wave of the Baby Boom generation 
were now in, or entering, their early thirties.  As a demographic group, the Baby 
Boomers are large and active, and they would demand facilities to meet their 
recreation needs.  In this period of time, softball was on a rise and yet to reach its 
apex due to the large number of baby boomers.  Boomers currently do not play 
softball or organized team sports at the levels they once did, but they bike, hike, 
and participate in other outdoor recreation events.  Hence, it was not unusual in 
the 1980’s to have recreational facilities being constructed to meet the demand of 
the young adult boomers.  

The shelter is an important facility to serve the needs of park users.  Delay and 
diffi culties of design and construction of the current shelter would presage the 
2010-2011 efforts when the 1980 shelter came in at about twice the cost noted 
in the original grant application.  By 1986 the phase II improvements were well 
established.  The 1986 WIDNR inspection letter noted that the park and its 
improvements were in good condition, and was pleased to see the community 
having funded some improvements on its own.   Property inspections were 
common for LAWCON funded projects.  With federal money having been used 
for the purchase of the park and installation of some its improvements, the 
restrictions imposed by the grants manual have to be followed.  One restriction 
of the post-completion responsibilities noted in the manual includes maintaining 
buildings, roads, trails and other structures and improvements in reasonable 
repair throughout the estimated lifetime of the facility. The grants were for 
outdoor recreation purposes, and therefore, park facilities have to fi t that purpose. 
(L+WCF Manual, p.2).

Neighborhood surroundings affect park layout and design.  In the 1980’s, homes 
were ever increasing in the surrounding rural subdivisions, although it would 
take until 1995 for many of the present day homes to have been constructed.  
Additional surrounding development in the 1980’s and 1990’s was limited due 
to the area around the park being outside the urban service area.  The City’s 
1974 plan began the City policy of directing development to the urban service 
area.  The Nine Springs urban service adjustment of the mid 1990’s would 
add land just west and north of Lacy into the urban service area.  Swan Creek 
subdivision, north of Lacy, would begin to be established in the early part of the 
new millennium, while the Crossing, a mature adult community would establish 
to the west of the park after 2005.  Increasing development in the area changes 
perceptions, use, and demand for recreation facilities.

Looking closely at Figures 1-16 and 1-17, the race track is still present; its 
presence would continue for decades.  The 1990 air photo clearly shows the 
same oval.  Tree growth is now appearing, as can be seen in the 1990 air photo, 
in unmaintained areas of the park, predominantly the northerly half.  McGaw 
Park underwent rapid development in the 1980’s.  The Lacy Road entrance drive 
was put in place in the fi rst half of the decade, having received approval from 
the WIDNR as compatible with outdoor recreation purposes (due to LAWCON 
funding).  The drive was installed to reduce traffi c and impact to the Tarpleywick 
area.  This almost one-half mile of driveway would now serve as the park’s 
main entry and help to dictate future development patterns.  To meet the needs 



McGaw Park Master Plan

Introduction

 1-24

of growth and the continued recreation demand for softball in the new City of 
Fitchburg, by 1990 the shelter with restrooms, another ball diamond, half court 
basketball, and two sand volleyball courts are now in place.  The outline of the 
future youth ball diamond is also discernible.  The existing two large parking 
areas located in the southwest portion of the park just east of the entry drive are 
also in place.  The large parking facilities indicate the level of activity the park is 
expected to see.

A pedestrian and bicycle trail connect the east and west side parking lots, and it is 
along this trail that many of the key features of the park are located—basketball, 
volleyball, shelter and ease of access to two softball fi elds.  

The park is now fi fteen years old at this point in 1990. Its development pattern has 
been set, and only a few additional facilities will be added over the next twenty 
year cycle as the City begins to focus on the development of McKee Farms 
Park.  McKee Farms Park was dedicated in portions beginning in the late 1980’s.  
McKee Farms is in the urban service area, near major transportation corridors, and 
with much existing nearby development, it is on its way to becoming the premier 
Fitchburg Park.  When it comes time to establish Kid’s Crossing, Fitchburg Days 
or a proposed Splash Pad, the talk is about McKee Farms Park.  Emphasis on 
McKee Farms Park was shown in the 2005 survey.  When citizens were asked 
where they would like to see expansion of a given feature, McKee Farms Park 
was identifi ed by more than 50 respondents as a place for additional amenities or 
facilities, while McGaw received fewer than 20 such suggestions (Trechter, 2006 
p. 19).   McGaw continues to play an important role in the Fitchburg Park system, 
having until recently held some large community recreation events (Enchanted 
Forest Halloween event and Pack the Park), but its primary focus remains softball.  
Softball is one of the reasons the park was established and thirty-fi ve years 
later it continues as the focus of the park.  It could be also argued that facility 
development in McGaw Park has been dampened by its relative isolation. 

However, both McGaw and McKee Farm Parks share some common challenges. 
The main entry to each is at a narrow point, with a drive into the park to reach the 
major facilities (McGaw has a much longer driveway).  The east edge of each has 
a feature or development that hampers access (development, and woods in the 
case of McGaw, development and storm ponds in the case of McKee).  McKee 
Farms Park has secondary access at its southwest edge; McGaw is expected to 
have street frontage for part of the proposed 17 acre addition at its southwest 
edge.  McKee is defi ned by its ponds, and drainage channels, while McGaw has 
come to be defi ned by its growing woods.  

McKee Farms Park was developed at a time when the City was beginning 
to construct recreational trails. Trail construction in McKee Farms Park was 
assisted by the use of milled asphalt from the re-pavement of streets in Wildwood 
South.  McKee Farms also benefi ted by the imposition of a park improvement 
fee.  Established in 1990, this fee is in addition to the fee in lieu of dedication 
established in 1971.  The purpose of the park improvement fee is to provide 
money to install park facilities to serve the development.  McGaw Park could 
benefi t from the park improvement fee as additional development occurs.  
 



McGaw Park Master Plan  1-25

 Source:  4/7/1990 air photo, Planning Department file 

Figure 1-17: 1990 Air Photo

Oval Race Track



McGaw Park Master Plan 1-26

By 1995 two more volleyball courts and the youth ball diamond have been added to McGaw Park 
(Figure 1-18).  The oval track near the west end of Dommers Drive remains a mark on the landscape.  
Tree and underbrush growth in the unmaintained area of the park is becoming denser. The exercise 
trail and some other trails are evident in the wooded area.  The fourth softball diamond has now been 
established between the play equipment and the basketball court.

 Source:  5/6/1995 air photo, Planning Department file 

Figure 1-18: 1995 Air Photo



McGaw Park Master Plan  1-27

Quality of air photos has improved by 2000.  The trails in the park remain visible, as does the 
omnipresent formal race track oval.  Tree and understory growth have now fi lled in some areas 
of the former fi eld.  In a few decades nature has taken over a good part of the area directly south 
of Dommers View subdivision moving from an open area predominated by grass, but with a little 
brush, to now brush and trees.  The high point, mentioned by both Brown (1973) and Goldin/Rubin 
(1974), is associated with this unmaintained developing brush/woodlot area.  An unmaintained area 
has now transformed to an early successional woodlot.

 Source:  April 2000 Air Photo, City GIS file  

Figure 1-19: 2000 Air Photo



McGaw Park Master Plan 1-28

In 2005, the park layout is similar to that in 2000.  Established tall grass areas are now more clearly 
visible.  Tree and underbrush growth continues and it is now somewhat more diffi cult to discern all 
of the original trails and path ways through what has become a wooded area.  

 2005 Air Photo, City GIS file 

Figure 1-20: 2005 Air Photo



McGaw Park Master Plan  1-29

 
By 2010, the formal race track is now fairly well obscured by tree and brush growth.  Fewer of the 
trails are now visible through the woods.  The open area north of the main parking area has now 
become formally established as a rectangular playfi eld, mainly serving la crosse and soccer, and its 
wear pattern is easily noticed in the color photograph.  The shelter is the focal point of activity, and 
while it is dwarfed by skinned infi elds and volleyball courts, the tree plantings and path construction 
draw and direct or point the visitor to the shelter.  The Crossing development  has been substantially 
built out in a few years providing neighbors, with new sets of opportunities and challenges for the 
park environment.

 2010 Air Photo, City GIS file 

Figure 1-21: 2010 Air Photo



McGaw Park Master Plan

Introduction

 1-30

The notable high point and its associated views of the State Capitol and the 
pastoral view of rural Fitchburg was not optimized and integrated into a usable 
public space to take advantage of the view.  Goldin and Rubin (1974) suggested 
a shelter, but other opportunities would have existed as well. It was left fallow 
and nature has now converted the area to scrub and trees.  Rather, practical 
considerations to serve the parks predominant softball, and fi eld users dictated the 
shelter location.  

Conclusion

McGaw Park serves a major role within the community park and recreation 
program. But that role has been primarily due to its service for playfi elds, 
particularly for softball.  Large events tend to now be located at McKee Farms 
Park, although McGaw has the capability for those events.  The background and 
history of the park and its main use patterns has been reviewed.  Attention can 
now turn to the planning of McGaw Park.  The planning section begins by setting 
forth the goals, objectives and policies that will guide the formation of the plan.  



 

Chapter 2: Goals, Objectives, and Policies 



McGaw Park Master Plan

Goals, Objectives and Policies

 2-2

The formation of the goals, objectives and policies resulted from information 
gathered from a visioning session held on March 24, 2011, and a 2011 on-line 
community survey.
           
Goal 1
Continue to enhance McGaw Park, one of the City’s Community Parks, as a 
major community building resource through a safe and engaging environment, 
with a diversity of recreational opportunities and attractions.

 Objective 1-1
 Park improvements should be accomplished, in both location and design,  
  with the safety of the park users in mind.

  Policies
  1-1.1   Provide for a diversity of park facilities, and events to  

 encourage park use by a variety of user groups and individuals.

  1-1.2   Provide street frontage to part of the future addition area.

  1-1.3   Landscaping improvements will complement facilities, but  
 recognize visibility and safety. 

  1-1.4   Consider pedestrian scale lighting for the major hard  
  surfaced pedestrian ways.

  1-1.5   Provide a separate off-drive walking path near the current  
  north-south driveway.
  1-1.6   Consider the establishment of additional destination   
  facilities to enhance park activity and visits.

 
 Objective 1-2
 Recognize that as the McGaw Park Neighborhood develops McGaw Park  
 will serve a larger population with more varied recreational needs.

  Policies
  1-2.1   Improve and enhance the pedestrian experience within  

 McGaw Park through trail improvements and an enhanced trail  
 system, allowing the trails to serve multiple compatible linear  
 recreation functions. 

  1-2.2   Plan improvements for the future that will recognize the  
 added neighborhood park role which will McGaw Park will bear.

  
  1-2.3 Recognize that a diversity of park users will increase as the  

 neighborhood develops and that park planning will need to   
 account for changing populations and recreational demands.



McGaw Park Master Plan

Goals, Objectives and Policies

2-3

  1-2.4   Provide suitable pedestrian and bicycle linkages between  
 McGaw Park and other public recreation and open space in the  
 surrounding area.

 
 
 Objective 1-3
 Add to the recreational base of McGaw Park by providing additional   
 facilities and unique attractions, befi tting a community park, to support a   
 variety of ages, interests, and seasons.

  Policies
  1-3.1   Increased activity will benefi t park users and increase the   

 sense of safety within the park.

  1-3.2   Provide fl exibility and resilience in facility design and   
 location to allow future modifi cations to meet changing needs and   
 circumstances.

 
  1-3.3    Recreation uses of facilities added to the park will be   

 accomplished in locations suitable for the anticipated use    
 levels, and the natural surroundings.

  1-3.4   Provide a new main shelter/pavilion suitable for the    
 intended uses of the park; in addition provide, where necessary,   
 ancillary shelters, possibly with restrooms.

  1-3.5   Provide improvements to make McGaw Park a destination   
 center for recreational and community building activities.

  1-3.6   Balance the recreational needs of a Community Park with   
 surrounding development patterns.

Goal 2
Balance environmental stewardship with enhanced and improved recreational 
opportunities.

 Objective 2-1
 Recognize the attraction of the existing wooded area to the McGaw Park   
 environment. 

  Policies
  2-1.1   Create a management plan, for approval by the Parks   

 Commission, for control of invasive species with a desire to   
 protect the wooded area.

  2-1.2   Balance invasive species control with the attractive nature   
  of the wooded area.



McGaw Park Master Plan

Goals, Objectives and Policies

 2-4

  2-1.3   Improve existing wood area trails to meet a variety of   
  recreational opportunities.

 
 Objective 2-2
 Explore environmental stewardship opportunities through recreation,   
 education, and (where feasible) facility development.
  
  Policies
  2-2.1   Re-establish the former fi tness course not only as a new   

 fi tness facility which integrates the educational benefi ts of fi tness   
 and the natural environment through which the course runs,   
 but also make these areas suitable for other linear oriented    
 recreational opportunities.

  2-2.2   The woodlot management plan should work in tandem   
 with fi tness, recreational, and educational opportunities to enhance   
 public involvement and enrich the recreation experience.

  2-2.3  Consider environmental education programming and   
 signage.

  
  2-2.4  Explore opportunities for sustainable recreation facility   

 development and management.



 

Chapter 3: The Master Plan 



McGaw Park Master Plan

The Master Plan

 3-2

Planning Sequence

The McGaw Park Master Plan was developed through a series of public 
workshops and Park Commission meetings.  
 
Data Collection and Review

An analysis of the existing conditions at McGaw Park was conducted to provide 
a baseline understanding of the park’s infrastructure and needs.  This process 
included the review of several data sources, including acquisition documents, old 
aerial photos, as well as a Park Commission and citizen tour of McGaw Park.  The 
tour provided the Park Commission and attendees an opportunity to view and 
discuss the existing amenities, layout, and physical features of the park.

Vision Session

A public visioning session was held to help identify issues and opportunities 
with McGaw Park.  The input received was used to draft a vision statement that 
describes the role, character and importance of McGaw Park.

Draft Goals, Objectives, Policies

Using the results of the visioning session, a set of goals was established that, 
when achieved, will help fulfi ll the vision and ensure a diverse, multi-purpose, 
and environmentally sound park that is responsive to the needs and desires of its 
users.  

Plan Alternatives / Selection of Amenities

Plan alternatives were created around the vision, the goals, objectives and 
policies, and the top-ranked issues and opportunities from the visioning session.  
The alternatives were brought to the Park Commission for review and discussion.  
The Park Commission then selected what amenities it desired to see in the park.  
Four revised alternatives were prepared to include the preferred amenities.  A 
public workshop and comment period were held to gather input on the draft 
alternative plans.  

Preferred Master Plan Alternative

After reviewing the comments received on the plan alternatives, staff made 
revisions to the plan and presented it to the Park Commission for their direction 
and approval of a preferred Master Plan.  Following their approval, an Open 
House was held to present the draft Master Plan text and map to seek any issues 
not previously identifi ed.

Adoption Process

The McGaw Park Master Plan was adopted through the standard process, 



McGaw Park Master Plan

The Master Plan

3-3

including a public hearing at the Park Commission meeting, Plan Commission 
action and fi nal approval by the Common Council.

Plan Elements

The McGaw Park Master Plan builds on the existing amenities currently located 
in the park.  As a community park, McGaw Park provides amenities for three 
park types – neighborhood, area and community.  The plan creates two nodes 
for neighborhood and area park amenities.  Community park amenities are 
concentrated in the existing park, with a few new facilities are provided.  The 
west addition facilities place neighborhood and area park facilities closer to 
the existing and proposed residential development west and south of the park.  
Existing and proposed development to the south and east of the park will continue 
to use the existing neighborhood and area park facilities.  A twenty car parking 
lot in the proposed south addition area will allow access to the park for future 
development south and east of the park without accessing the park via Lacy Road 
or Wildheather Drive.  The timing and location of amenities within the plan may 
be amended as resources become available or after further detailed planning.

Park Service Areas

As a community park, McGaw Park functions at all levels of the hierarchical 
park system: community, area, neighborhood.  Currently most areas in the 
future McGaw neighborhood are not served by a neighborhood park.  With the 
anticipated residential development in this neighborhood, it is essential that 
neighborhood park amenities are provided to serve future residents.  The proposed 
west and south additions to McGaw Park will provide the main park area for 
McGaw neighborhood residents west of Syene Road (see Figure 1-5 for McGaw 
neighborhood land use map).

D
E

N
B

E
R

R
Y

S
T

RD

R
O

T
H

M
O

R
E

L
N

MCKEE RD

LONGFORD TER

YARMOUTH
G

R
EE

N
W

A
Y

D
R

HIGH RI

CAHIL
L M

A
IN

FI
S

H
H

A
TC

H
ER

Y
R

D

MCCOY RD

E CHERYL PKWY

GUNFLINT
TRL

WOODS
H

O
L L

O
W

R
D

G
LA

C
IE

R
V

A
LL

EY
R

D

C
H

A
P

E
L

V
A

LL
E

Y
R

D

WIL SHIR E

D
R

R
IC

H
A

R
D

S
O

N
S

T

CHERYL
DR

LACY RD

OKE DR

ST

NUTONE ST

R
IC

H
A

R
D

S
O

N
S

T BYRNELAND ST

S
FI

S
H

H
A

T
C

H
E

R
Y

R
D

WHALEN RD

IRISH LN

C
A

IN
E

R
D

U
S

H
W

Y
1

4

S
Y

E
N

E
R

D

FITCHBURG PARK
SERVICE AREAS

City of Fitchburg
Parks, Recreation & Forestry Dept.
September 13, 2011

¯

McKee
Farms
Park

McGaw
Park

0 0.50.25
Miles

Area Park

Neighborhood Park

Community Park Service Area (2.5 mi)

Area Park Service Area (1/2 mi)

Neighborhood Park Service Area (1/4 mi)

McGaw Park Neighborhood

Community Park

S. Johnson
Park

Quarry Hill
Park

Swan
Creek
Park

Figure 3-1 Fitchburg Park Service Areas



McGaw Park Master Plan

The Master Plan

 3-4

Mutli-Purpose Recreation

In keeping with the goals, objectives and policies, the plan provides for diverse 
recreational activities that appeal to a wide array of preferences, and meets the 
needs of all age groups.  The plan is also intended to be fl exible to allow for 
adaptation to changing recreational needs and demands.

The plan calls for additions to the existing community-level park amenities.  
These additional amenities include a horizontal climbing wall, observation tower, 
nature center, labyrinth and a disc golf course.  The observation tower, located in 
the northeast corner of the park, is at an elevation that may only require a raised 
platform.  The proposed disc golf course is expected to be interwoven between the 
hiking trails; the disc golf holes should be placed in a way that will compliment 
the trails and to coexist rather than confl ict with trail users.  Final placement of the 
disc golf holes will depend on the results of a woodland management plan.
With the anticipated future development west of the existing park, the plan 
provides for area and neighborhood facilities in the anticipated western addition, 
which include:

• Picnic Area
• Playground
• Great Lawn
• Shelter with restrooms
• Tennis Courts (2) 
• Half court basketball
• Open Recreation fi elds (2)

The shelter, picnic, playground and great lawn are provided within close 
proximity to each other as their uses are important to each other.  These amenities, 
coupled together, provide a shelter with nearby amenities for all ages.  The great 
lawn, a manicured green space with minimal slope, provides a space for yard 
games such as bocce ball, badminton, or croquet or just an open space for people 
to relax and socialize.  Rather than tying in specifi c bocce or other lawn courts, 
the use of the great lawn will be able to serve a variety of functions.  It could also 
be used for large gatherings and open air concerts.

The tennis courts, with additional striping, can serve as pickle or paddle ball 
courts.

The anticipated southern addition contains a labyrinth, a new 20 car parking 
lot for access to the park and from residents south and east of the park, an open 
recreation area for a variety of activities such as pickup games of soccer, kickball, 
and other recreational games, and an oak opening/prairie restoration area on the 
eastern side.  The oak openings and prairie restoration areas will compliment the 
nature center.

Infrastructure and Buildings

The existing park shelter will be renovated; a new shelter with restrooms will be 



McGaw Park Master Plan

The Master Plan

3-5

placed in the anticipated western addition.  With the addition of a new shelter, 
McGaw Park will provide two shelters available for rental.

The plan also provides for a nature center with an outdoor nature area.  This 
center will provide educational opportunities and will serve as an additional 
shelter for the eastern side of the park.  Restrooms may be phased in as public 
water and sewer is available to serve the shelter.  The nature center will provide 
a learning environment complimentary to the woods, prairies and other natural 
features of the park.  Interpretive signage and other educational features may be 
used to highlight some of the natural amenities in the park and express the natural 
and cultural history of the area.

Path System

The existing path system will be updated to add some new paved multi-use trails 
throughout the park.  A new trail on the western edge of the park will extend 
from Lacy Road south to the existing parking lot; the exact location of this trail, 
whether on the east or west side of the road will be determined after more detailed 
planning.  Additional access, consistent with the McGaw Park Neighborhood 
Plan, is provided from the west and also the south.  

A number of residents expressed interest in lighting the pathways and the entrance 
road.  Lighting should be designed to minimize disturbance to the existing 
and proposed residential areas.  It needs to be accomplished at an appropriate 
scale and appropriate to the use.   For example, pathway lighting should be at a 
pedestrian scale, not tall street lights.

Natural Environment
A prairie restoration/rain garden is provided south of the existing Crossings 
residential area to provide a buffer and a natural setting with a bike path running 
through the prairie.  A second prairie restoration/oak opening area is provided at 
the south east corner of the park near S. Johnson neighborhood park.

The existing wooded area will also be managed following completion of a 
woodlot management plan.

Conclusion

The McGaw Park Master Plan is intended to help guide future park amenities 
and facilities.  However, the plan is also intended to allow fl exibility in decision 
making to adjust to changing conditions in the recreational fi eld.   Thus, the 
Park Commission will retain a great deal of fl exibility in the type and location of 
amenities to best meet the park and recreation needs of the Fitchburg community.  
It can be expected that some facility locations may be modifi ed, and new 
amenities may be placed in the park at the discretion of the Park Commission.  
When determining a new or different amenity, and adjustment to amenity 
location, the Park Commission will be guided by the goals, objectives and policies 
of this planning document.



Intentionally Left Blank.



McGaw Park Master Plan  3-7

Renovated Shelter
w/ Restrooms

Shelter w/
Restrooms

Open
Recreation 

Field

Picnic

Playground

Full Court
Basketball

Nature Center
and Shelter

w/ Restrooms

20 Car
Parking

146 Car
Parking

89 Car 
Parking

Play 
Area

Softball Field

Softball Field

Softball Field

Tennis
Courts

S. Johnson 
Park

Sand 
Volleyball 

Courts

Youth Ball Field

Soccer/ 
Lacrosse 

Field

30 Car
ParkingTennis

Courts
(2)

0 100 200 300 40050
Feet

Planning / Zoning Dept.
August 16, 2011; revised September 16, 2011

Source Data: Fly Dane, 2010 (air photo)

Prairie Restoration / 
Rain Garden

Half Court 
Basketball 

Open Recreation Labyrinth

Softball Field

Oak Opening / Prairie Restoration

Prairie Restoration Area

Tall Grass Area

Legend
McGaw Park Boundary

Potential Future Parkland
New Access Road

New Paved Multi-Use Trail

Existing Paved Multi-Use Trail

Existing Walking Trails

Hoz. Climbing Wall

Open Recreation

Open
Recreation

Field

Great Lawn

Interim
Great
Lawn

Nature Center
Outdoor Area

Prairie Restoration / 
Rain Garden

As a community park, McGaw Park provides
amenities for three park types - neighborhood,
area and community. This plan places a set of
neighborhood and area park facilities in the
anticipated west addition area to serve future
residents to the west and southwest of the park.
A twenty car parking lot in the proposed south
addition area will allow access to the park for
future development south and east of the park
without accessing the park via Lacy Road or
Wildheather Drive.

Disc Golf
(Layout Depends on Woodlot Mgnt. Plan)

Observation Tower

View of Capitol

Figure 3-2:  McGaw Park Master Plan



Intentionally Left Blank.



 

Chapter 4: Natural Resources, 
Transportation and Utilities



McGaw Park Master Plan

Natural Resources, Transportation, and Utilities

 4-2

This chapter will provide additional information on three aspects related to the 
development of McGaw Park.  Natural resources (e.g. soils, slope, or vegetation) 
in the park help to guide facility location and development.  As a community park, 
transportation is critical to bringing visitors to the park regardless of whether 
or not the visitor lives nearby or distant.  Pedestrian, bicycle and motor vehicle 
transportation are all important.  Finally, the public utilities that service the park 
are also important, and inform planning and phasing decisions.  

Natural Resources

The environmental analysis of McGaw Park that follows will discuss the various 
natural resources and environmental features that exist in the park, including 
vegetation, water, soils, topography, and wildlife.  
 
Vegetation

Due to the establishment of trees and woodland, McGaw Park is quite different in 
appearance than it was 30 to 40 years ago and very different since early settlement 
days. The land that is currently McGaw Park was likely originally prairie in the 
mid-1800s.  In Fitchburg: A History (Fitchburg Bicentennial Committee, 1976, p. 
1), William Vroman, an early Fitchburg historian, described the town of Fitchburg 
as being “about equally divided between prairie and oak openings.” (Refer to 
Appendix A for a map of the Original Vegetation Cover of Wisconsin.)

Today, about half of McGaw Park, approximately 32 acres, consists of early 
successional woodland and about another 4 acres are managed as grassland 
(Figure 4.1).  The majority of the wooded areas are found in the northern half of 
the park.  S. Johnson Park, immediately adjacent to southeast corner of McGaw 
Park, contains about another 6 acres of woodland.  There is 1.2-acre prairie 
restoration area to the east of the Lacy Road park entrance drive and a number of 
tall grass areas in the southern part of the park. 

The tall grass area to the north of the northeast ball diamond is characterized by 
Mike Healy of Biologic Environmental Consulting (personal communication, 
June 16, 2011) as either “an old-fi eld with some invading, opportunistic native 
species or as an old, unmanaged prairie planting in which non-native species 
typical of old-fi elds have become dominant.” Healy goes on to state “The 
dominance of two non-native forage grasses, Timothy and Canada bluegrass, 
suggest a scenario in which former pasture has been invaded by a few hardy 
native species.  Native species of note include opportunistic species such as bee 
balm, frost aster, and yellow conefl ower.  These wildfl owers provide aesthetic 
appeal and habitat for birds and insects.”  Refer to Appendix B for additional 
information on this area. This is an unmowed area in which, to the best of staff 
knowledge, the City has not planted prairie plants.   

 



McGaw Park Master Plan  4-3

±
Parks, Recreation & Forestry Dept.
July 7, 2011

!.

!.

!.

!.

!.

S. Johnson 
Park

LACY ROAD

WILDHEATHER DR

DOMMERS DR

SWAN CREEK

0 150 300 450
Feet

Source Data:  Fly Dane, 2010 (air photo); 
NRC, 2008; CARPC, 2008; City of Fitchburg

LEGEND
McGaw Park Boundary

Private Land 
(Potential Future Parkland)

Wooded AreaIntermittent Stream

Heritage Tree!.

Potential Specimen 
Tree
Park Tree

Prairie Restoration Area

Tall Grass Area

Figure 4-1:  McGaw Park Vegetation and Water



McGaw Park Master Plan

Natural Resources, Transportation, and Utilities

 4-4

On May 28, 2011, Biologic Environmental Consulting conducted a tree and 
vegetation survey of the McGaw and S. Johnson Park woodlots and shrublands 
to determine tree, shrub, and ground layer species compositions.  Biologic 
Environmental Consulting found the McGaw Park woodlot overall tree density 
to be 202 trees per acre, which is low for an early successional forest (Biologic 
Environmental Consulting, 2011).  Appendix B contains a complete report of 
Biologic’s fi ndings and methods. 

In summary, most of the McGaw Park woodland overstory trees are of poor 
quality and vigor. Figure 4-2 shows that the woodlot is dominated mostly by black 
cherry, representing 21.8% of the trees.  Other prevalent species are mulberry 
(19.2%), black locust (18.3%), silver maple (16.9%), and box elder (14.5%).  
However, apple, white pine, Norway spruce, white spruce, elm, black walnut, red 
cedar, and red oak were also found (Biologic Environmental Consulting, 2011). 
Many of these high quality trees may have been planted by the Parks Department.  
Soon after the park opened, staff began planting trees near the recreation fi elds 
and along what are now the wooded trails, including the larger pines that are still 
there today. 

 
Source: BioLogic Environmental Consulting Inventory, 2011

BioLogic Environmental Consulting also conducted a vegetation survey in 
McGaw Park’s woodlot, prairie restoration area (near the main park entrance), and 
tall grass area (between the northeast ball fi eld and the woodlot).  The prairie and 
tall grass areas are the most species-rich of all the surveyed areas, but their species 
composition and location suggests they are not prairie remnants, but perhaps were 
seeded with prairie plants.   The dominant plant in the woodland understory is 
honeysuckle (Lonicera x bella), a non-native and invasive bush. The next most 
common plant is common buckthorn (Rhamnus cathartica), another non-native 
and invasive species.  No rare, threatened, or endangered vascular plant species 
were observed (Biologic Environmental Consulting, 2011).

In addition to the larger woodlots, McGaw Park also has planted trees in its 
developed open areas, as well as planted and volunteer trees along almost its 
entire perimeter.  The south and west perimeters of the park are old fencelines 
that once separated the former McGaw farm from the surrounding family farms.  
They consist of a mixture of hardwoods, including poor quality black cherry, 
native weedy tree species, such as box elder, and exotic invasives like common 
buckthorn and Asian honeysuckle. However, the fencelines do contain some 

Figure 4-2: Tree Species Composition of McGaw Park
Insert Tree Picture from 
McGaw



McGaw Park Master Plan

Natural Resources, Transportation and Utilities

4-5

quality trees (i.e. oak and pine). In 2009, the Fitchburg Parks, Recreation & 
Forestry Department surveyed approximately 245 trees outside the woodlot.  The 
majority of these trees are ash, honeylocust, maple, oak, pine, and spruce. 

The Fitchburg Parks, Recreation & Forestry Department also maintains an 
ongoing heritage and specimen tree inventory for the City.  A heritage tree is one 
that is estimated to be at least 200 years old based on it diameter, and in Fitchburg, 
that is typically an oak tree.  Specimen trees are those 15 inches or greater in 
diameter that display superior quality and characteristics when compared to trees 
of the same species.  A 2008 natural resources survey conducted in the future 
McGaw Park Neighborhood by Natural Resources Consulting found 7 potential 
specimen oak trees along the southern perimeter of McGaw Park. Three are 23 
to 26-inch diameter northern pin oaks found either directly south of the existing 
playground or west of the southwest ball diamond.  The other 4 are found in 
the fenceline in the southeast corner of the park.  There are no heritage trees in 
McGaw Park. However, S. Johnson Park contains 3 heritage bur oak trees.

Water

While McGaw Park has an abundance of forest resources, it lacks in water 
resources.  The only natural water feature is in the very northwest corner of 
the park, where the north branch of Swan Creek fl ows underground from the 
detention pond in The Crossing development (located west of the park) to the 
northeast and off park property.  Swan Creek ultimately fl ows into Lake Waubesa 
in the Town of Dunn.

Other low areas in McGaw Park may become wet or serve as drainageways 
after storm events. This includes a few areas in the woods, as well as the ditch 
to the west of the eastern parking lot.  Residents of The Crossing have indicated 
stormwater problems and would like the park to be designed to minimize water 
runoff to their residential development.

Soils

Soils have different properties and behaviors that have implications for certain 
land uses (e.g. buildings, roads, recreation facilities).  For example, the content 
of sand, silt, and clay affects the physical behavior of a soil, such as its vegetative 
productivity or susceptibility to erosion by water and wind.  

Figures 4-3 and 4-4 show that McGaw Park and the potential park addition areas 
to the west and south consist of fi ve different soil types. All are well-drained 
loamy soils and all but one, Griswold loam, are silt loams.  A loam is a soil 
with relatively equal concentrations of sand, silt, and clay (Purdue University 
Department of Horticulture and Landscape Architecture, 2000). Silt loams, 
have a higher content of silt than sand. The silt loams found in McGaw Park are 
considered prime farmland (University of Wisconsin-Madison Department of Soil 
Science, n.d.). 



McGaw Park Master Plan 4-6

±
Parks, Recreation & Forestry Dept.
June 30, 2011

RnB

PnB

PnB

GwC

VrB

RnB

GwC

DnB

RnB

PnA

PnBPnB

MdC2

GwC

S. Johnson 
Park

LACY ROAD

WILDHEATHER DR

DOMMERS DR

0 150 300 450
Feet

Source Data:  Fly Dane, 2010 (air photo); 
Dane County, 2005

LEGEND
McGaw Park Boundary

Private Land 
(Potential Future Parkland) GwC

MdC2

PnA

PnB

RnB

VrB

Soil Map Units

DnB

Figure 4-3:  McGaw Park Soils



McGaw Park Master Plan

Natural Resources, Transportation and Utilities

4-7

Figure 4-4: McGaw Park Soils

Soil Map Unit Soil Name Associated Slope

DnB Dodge silt loam 2 - 6 %

GwC Griswold loam 6 - 12 %

PnA Plano silt loam 0 - 2 %

PnB Plano silt loam 2 - 6 %

RnB Ringwood silt loam 2 - 6 %

Much of McGaw Park is suitable for a number of recreation development uses. 
This includes lawns and landscaping, picnic areas, and paths. However, areas that 
consist of Griswold loam (GWC), in the northeast and northwest areas of the park, 
are somewhat limited for lawns, landscaping, and picnic areas.  Griswold loam 
is associated with steeper slopes (6-12%). None of the McGaw Park soils have 
limitations for paths and trails.

Topography

According to a 1973 appraisal by Brown, McGaw Park has a gently rolling terrain 
overall. However, a signifi cant area of the park is relatively fl at, thereby supporting 
the use of the existing athletic fi elds (Figure 4-6).  

The highest point in the park is in the northeast corner of the woods, south of 
Dommers Drive (Figure 4-5). The land slopes downhill from this point to the 
north and south property lines. Brown’s 1973 appraisal of the property states “The 
property enjoys an excellent view in all directions from the top of the small hill. 
This view includes most of the Madison skyline”. This is evident in Figure 4-7. 
Today, that view is no longer present due to the establishment of the woods.

Source: Fly Dane, 2010

Source: NRCS

Figure 4-5: 2010 Air Photo Emphasizing 
McGaw Park Topography. 



McGaw Park Master Plan 4-8

±
Parks, Recreation & Forestry Dept.
June 30, 2011

960

9
9

2

95
6

988

9
2

8

9
4

8

9
6

8

1000

9
2

4

9
1

6

9
7

6

91
2

996

1004

9
7

29
8

4 9
8

0 940

9
6

4

94
49

5
2

9
2

0

936

908

932

98
0

9
4

0

988

95
2

948
952

968

932

95
6

976

932

968

988

964

968

964

9
1

6

9
8

0

1000

9
4

8

952

944

972

928

984

920

984

920

9
5

6

984

9
7

2

9
4

0

9
4

8

956

9
4

8

9
5

6

960

912

932

9
4

0

960

960

936

9
5

2
9

3
2

96
0

98
4

9
3

2

944

956

968

940

980

928

97
2

996

952

940

9
8

0

992

964

928

9
3

6

940

924

964

932

936944

992

9
3

2

9
4

0

956

936

97
6

964

94
4

920

976

924

93
6

9
3

6

936

924

964

948

948

972

944

972

9
5

2

9
6

0

928

968

976

9
8

0

984

95
2

948

968

9
4

0

924

996

9
4

4988

9
4

4

936

S. Johnson 
Park

LACY ROAD

WILDHEATHER DR

DOMMERS DR

SWAN CREEK

0 150 300 450
Feet

Source Data:  Fly Dane, 2010 (air photo); 
CARPC, 2005, 2008; City of Fitchburg

LEGEND
McGaw Park Boundary

Private Land 
(Potential Future Parkland)

Intermittent Stream

Slopes 12% and Greater

4-Foot Contour

Figure 4-6:  McGaw Park Topography



McGaw Park Master Plan

Natural Resources, Transportation and Utilities

4-9

 

Wildlife

There are no known scientifi c studies of the fauna in McGaw Park.  However, 
a number of typical urban animal species have been sighted near the park by 
neighboring residents.  This includes white-tailed deer, coyote, fox, Eastern 
cottontail, muskrat, skunk, squirrel, raccoon, wild turkey, pheasant, duck, 
Canadian geese, crane, blue herons, hawks, Indigo Bunting, and other common 
birds (A. Richardson, N. Berkas, J. Wilson, personal communication,  2011).  
Different waterfowl and other aquatic animals use the stormwater pond in 
The Crossing subdivision to the west of McGaw Park (J. Wilson, personal 
communication, 2011). It is also likely that many of the terrestrial species above 
use the park for its available habitat and food source.

Transportation

There are three main modes of transportation that will be discussed as part of 
the transportation analysis--motor vehicle, bicycle and pedestrian.  The park was 
developed in a rural part of Fitchburg and at a time when motor vehicle access 
was the only mode of transportation considered.  Sidewalks in subdivisions were 
not required until the mid 1990’s, and being in a rural area, no other modes of 
transportation seemed important as the park developed.  However, when the park 
was originally being considered, the Park Commission had discussed bicycle trail 
access for the park, but such access would need to wait until urban development 
started to come near and abut the park in the 2000’s.

 Figure 4-6 View of Madison Skyline from McGaw Park High Point in 1973 
Source:  Brown, 1973. Figure 4-7: View of Madison Skyline from McGaw Park

Source: Brown, 1973



McGaw Park Master Plan 4-10

19,590
18,090

15,050
17,930

13,360

15,250

8
,3

4
0

8
,9

0
0

8
,6

9
0

1
0

,1
4

0

8
,0

7
0

5
,9

8
0

8,230
7,510

5
,9

3
0

8
,4

2
0 1

,6
1

0
3
,1

9
0

2,
5
9
0

4,
5
3
0

6,
71

0

7,
96

0

7
,3

9
0

8
,3

9
0

6,770
7,920

3,510

4,610
310
330

160
350

750
870

9,780
10,450

±
0 1,000500 Feet Legend

Railroad

McGaw and S. Johnson Park

Proposed Roads

2025 Average Traffic Volume Forecast

2035 Average Traffic Volume Forecast

*Source: p. 8-9 McGaw Park Neighborhood Plan

Figure 4-8:  McGaw Area Forecasted Traffi c Patterns

Source: McGaw Park Neighborhood Plan, 2009. p. 9-8



McGaw Park Master Plan

Natural Resources, Transportation and Utilities

4-11

Figure 4-9: McGaw Area Forecasted Traffi c Pattern

Location 2025 Build 2035 Build
Fish Hatchery, North of Lacy 18,090 19,590
Fish Hatchery, South of Lacy 15,050 17,930
Fish Hatchery, North of Nobel 13,360 15,250
Notre Dame, North of Lacy 2,170 2,660
Notre Dame, South of Lacy 310 330
Notre Dame, North of Nobel 160 350
Notre Dame,South of Nobel 750 870
Syene, North of Lacy 6,770 7,920
Syene, South of Lacy 3,501 4,610
Syene, North of Irish 9,780 10,450
Lacy, East of Fish Hatchery 8,340 8,900
Lacy, Between Fahey Glen & Notre Dame 8,690 10,140
Lacy, West of Syene 7,390 8,390
Lacy, Between Syene and Nobel 5,980 8,070
Lacy, West of USH 14 4,430 6,730
Nobel, East of Fish Hatchery 5,930 8,420
Nobel, between Fahey Glen & Notre Dame 1,610 3,190
Nobel, West of Syene 2,590 4,350
Nobel, East of Syene 6,710 7,960
Nobel, South of Lacy 7,510 8,230

Motor Vehicle

McGaw Park is currently served by two access drives.  The fi rst access to the 
park was at the end of Wildheather Drive with a turn around and a parking 
lot being part of the park’s phase one construction.  This access was through 
the Tarpleywick Hills subdivision, and to reduce vehicle traffi c in the rural 
subdivision, the second access point off Lacy Road was constructed in the early 
1980’s.  The second access is now the main access to the park, being directly 
located off a street designated by the City as a major collector.  This access drive 
runs nearly a half-mile, primarily along the westerly boundary of the park and 
ends at the southernmost of two large parking lots serving the park.  

While Lacy Road is currently the main access to McGaw Park, other roadways 
are, or will be important.  Lacy Road, a main east-west connector across the 
City, is expected to be improved over time to a two land road with turn lanes.  
Its section east of Syene Road be relocated north to connect to USH 14 at an 
interchange and head east to County MM from the interchange.  The relocation 
will occur in 2012.  Existing Lacy Road east of the new relocated Lacy Road 
will need to be renamed.  This connection to USH 14 will provide ease of access 
to McGaw Park by users outside the community.  USH 14 is a principal north 

Source: McGaw Park Neighborhood Plan, 2009 p. 9-8



McGaw Park Master Plan 4-12

Figure 4-10:  Traffi c Patterns

2
3
6
0

4
7
7
5

2
5
2

8

5878

3499

3
3
9
1

4898

2338

2
4
0
9

3
0
3
5 W.Way

LACY RD

S
S

Y
E

N
E

R
D

NESBITT RD

5246

F
IT

C
H

R
O

N
A

R
D

3514

8369

11003

O
S

M
U

N
D

S
E

N
R

D

2003

2082

8997

6
5
2

2
6
2
7 WHALEN RD

1393

C
O

U
N

T
Y

H
IG

H
W

A
Y

M
M

5048

6043

2
4
9
6

5
2
5
2

5411

2244

773

5482

4
0
5
6

3
0
6
9

4214A
N

T
O

N
D

R

2910

K
A

P
E

C
R

D

5360

12900

100004
0
0
0

1878

15
17

R
IC

H
A

R
D

S
O

N
S

T

1068 LONGFORD TER

2
1
4
8

6400

MCKEE RD 1
9
7
0
0

48400

9100

6000 2
0
4
0
0

2
5
2
0
0

2
0
3
0
0

MCCOY RD

7400

5600

5500

11800
13200

40
00

2200

3
8
7
2

2004

1690

F
IS

H
H

A
T

C
H

E
R

Y
R

D
1
8

6
6

4
9
4
3

3
1
3
4

2
0
8
8

E CHERYL PKWY

LACY RD

M
U

T
C

H
L

E
R

R
D

GRANDVIEW RD

F
IT

C
H

B
U

R
G

R
D

C
A

IN
E

R
D

IRISH LN U
S

H
W

Y
1

4

BYRNE RD

ADAMS RD

FI
SH

H
A

TC
H

ER
Y

R
D

29000

4
3
0
0

1
8
3
7

1922

3300

1
0
7
2
2

1
3
5
11 5600 79

00CAHIL
L
MAIN

COUNTY HIGHWAY M

1
2
0

0

12100

S
S

E
M

IN
O

L
E

H
W

Y

6900

1
0
5
3

PEMBROKE DR

SCHUMANN DR

4800

5800

615

5100

11600

5700

41
00

44400

1003

2
4
7
7

2
4
9
7

2
0
7
3

4499

4
1
7
5

5
0
2
7

5941

6359

3
1
7
4

4682

2
5

5
5

4
1
4

3

3
3
5

2

1
0

5
9

1
7
3
0

1030

2332

2020

4740

29
7014

90

13,500

4700

11
2
0

11
8

0

5
8
0
0

5
7
9
2

5
8
3
4

61
45

1
0
4
2

1
4
3
7

7208

12,670

3590

5,980

6394

16,136
14,003

15300

11200

20500

7140

7870

5
9
5

6909

970

220
520

68601550
7580

980

1
7
0

390

1560
1820

120

5
8

0325
2
0
1
0

7700

5520 Lacy Road
Fitchburg, WI 53711-5318

(608)270-4200

± Scale:
1 in. = 4,070 ft.

City of Fitchburg
Department

####  2007 ADT

####  2006 ADT

####  2005 ADT

City of Fitchburg
ADT Map

####  2004 ADT

Legend

2002-2010

####  2003 ADT
####  2002 ADT

####  2008 ADT

####  2009 ADT
####  2010 ADT

Source:  http://www.city.fi tchburg.wi.us/departments/cityHall/publicWorks/
transportation/documents/Traffi ccountADTmap2010.pdf



McGaw Park Master Plan

Natural Resources, Transportation and Utilities

4-13

south arterial that runs along the east side of Fitchburg.  Fish Hatchery Road (also 
known as County D) is a north-south running minor arterial, and runs through the 
central portion of the City.    

Nobel Drive is located south of Lacy Road, and is about half way between Lacy 
Road and Irish Lane.  Nobel will eventually be extended east as part of the 
McGaw Neighborhood Plan to connect to Lacy at a roundabout to be located 
just east of Syene Road.  Nobel is important to the development of the McGaw 
Neighborhood and is designed to provide a relief to traffi c from solely using 
Lacy Road.  Lacy Road residents are concerned about increasing traffi c on their 
roadway and proper traffi c relief by a series of east-west roads is important to 
provide relief.  East Cheryl Parkway, functions in much the same way as Nobel 
Drive.  Nobel is also a potential transit route, which would be benefi cial to 
residents who live in northeastern Fitchburg and their ability to access functions 
and amenities in the park, without using an automobile.  Nobel is expected to be a 
boulevard with one lane of traffi c in each direction, parking and bike lanes.  Nobel 
will also contain a recreational path on one side of the roadway with a sidewalk 
on the other side.  

Proposed McGaw Park expansion will provide indirect access to Nobel to the 
south end of the proposed park addition land.  The intent of the park planning 
is not having the existing west drive connect south to “Parks Street” to avoid 
high speed cut-through usage.  However, access to the south edge of the park is 
certainly appropriate to allow users from the south and east to have more direct 
access than using either Tarpleywick Drive or going further north to Lacy Road.  

Notre Dame Drive is a small length street serving The Crossing development.  
This street will eventually head south to Nobel Drive but in so doing run near or 
border the west park addition.   Additional access is expected from Notre Dame 
Drive to the west park addition to connect to the existing main entry drive, and 
the two main parking lots.  Using a “T” design, the future connection is intended 
to provide access to the main parking lots without encouraging higher speed cut 
through traffi c.  Notre Dame will be more typical of a city residential street with 
a 66’ right-of-way and 32’ to 36’ pavement width; bikes will be accommodated as 
part of the roadway.

Nobel Drive and Notre Dame Drive are dependant upon the development of 
the McGaw Neighborhood Plan, and full and complete access will likely take 
many years to be realized, just as west and south expansion could take many 
years.  Figures 4-8 and 4-9 show Average Traffi c Volume Forecasts for major 
streets serving McGaw Park for 2025 and 2035 with development identifi ed in 
the McGaw Park Neighborhood Plan.  For comparison purposes, Figure 4-10 
illustrates average counts taken in the City between 2002 and 2010. 

Bicycle and Pedestrian

Urban services are becoming readily available to McGaw Park as development 
has reached to the north and northwest of the park.  One of these services is 
bicycle and pedestrian connections.  The Swan Creek neighborhood north of 



McGaw Park Master Plan

Natural Resources, Transportation, and Utilities

 4-14

Lacy Road and just west of Syene Road abuts McGaw Park to the north of the 
park’s main entry drive.  This subdivision has sidewalks on the public streets and 
a great number of recreational paths providing access within the neighborhood 
and connectivity to the Capital City State Trail.  As development along Lacy Road 
comes to fruition, a recreational path will be constructed along the south side of 
Lacy Road.  

Existing Nobel Drive and Research Park Drive also have recreation paths, and 
as Nobel is extended easterly, this recreation path will provide alternate access.  
Additionally, a narrow green space connection is anticipated along the south edge 
of The Crossing and Waterford Glen between Fitchburg Technology Campus and 
McGaw Park.  This area is anticipated to also have a separate off road recreation 
path.  As urban development continues to move toward, adjoin and around the 
park, the construction of recreation paths and sidewalks will better enhance bike 
and pedestrian access to the park.  Access to the west side of Fish Hatchery is 
assisted by signals at Lacy Road, and East Cheryl Drive, while grade separated 
access is provided for the Capital City State Trail just north of McKee Road.  A 
few small segments currently prohibit a recreation path connection between two 
community parks; overtime these segments will be completed.

Two existing recreation paths generally run into the park’s main access drive off 
of Lacy Road.  What is currently missing in the park is an off-drive recreational 
trail route to connect the main use area of the park to these existing recreation 
paths. The only paved recreation path in McGaw Park runs from the south parking 
lot easterly to the east parking lot.  Besides lacking strong bicycle and pedestrian 
linkages within McGaw Park, there are utility issues to be considered.

Utilities

With the approval of the north McGaw Park Neighborhood Urban Service 
Adjustment request, all of McGaw Park is now within the urban service area.  
However, at present the nearest public water and sanitary sewer connection is 
located at the east turn around of Harvest Way, a private drive located in The 
Crossing development.  By straight line, it is a distance of 1,100 feet from the 
existing shelter.  A route location developed by the City’s engineering department  
in 2010 had an estimated cost of $30,000 to $35,000 for public water and sewer 
from the general location of a replacement shelter (in generally the same location 
as the existing shelter) to the east end of Harvest Way.  The replacement shelter 
proposed in 2010 and again in 2011 continued to use the existing water and 
private sewerage system.  However, consideration should be given to connecting 
the shelter to the public water and sewer supply.  For planning purposes, extension 
of water and sewer  services is estimated at $30-$35 per lineal foot.  

Connection to public water and sewer would remove uncertainty that can pervade 
private sewerage systems.  The Dommers Drive area, as was seen from discussion 
in Chapter 1, had a few homes constructed by the early 1970’s and petitioned the 
City for both inclusion in the urban service area and urban water and sewer.  The 
urban service amendment for Dommers Drive was approved in 2002, with water 
and sewer installation in 2003. One reason for the petition was to use public sewer 



McGaw Park Master Plan

Natural Resources, Transportation and Utilities

4-15

to replace aging septic systems.  It is more cost effective to provide both services 
at the same time, rather than doing so separately.  While the septic system serving 
McGaw Park is not, as far as the City is aware, in violation of any code, it is 
presently over 30 years of age, having been constructed on November 18, 1980.
In addition, the water quality for the shelter is suspect.  Nitrate levels have 
been near the maximum in some water quality tests completed over the 
past several years.  A nitrate level of 10.5 mg/l (milligrams per liter) is the 
maximum contaminant level set by the Federal Safe Drinking Water Act, and WI 
Administrative Code, chapter NR809.  The following fi gure illustrates the levels 
over the past few years.

A municipal park needs to provide safe and reliable drinking water.  The park 
is used for athletic activities, picnics, and other large events, at which the water 
supply is necessary for the health and well being of the participants. Protecting 
the health of residents is one of the primary functions of government.  The above 
nitrate information shows that for three consecutive years nitrate levels were at 
or above 10 mg/l.  Appendix C identifi es recommendations to be satisfi ed when 
water levels have a nitrate concentration of greater than 10mg/l. While a decrease 
was seen in 2008, levels have seen a steady increase over the last three years.  A 
history of nitrate levels near the maximum contaminant level should give pause 
and concern, and lead to solutions on methods of correction. 

Electric and Gas

Electric service for the park comes from the dead end of Dommers Drive and 
angles southwest to east of the shelter where all of the electrical transformers 
are located. Electric lines then ran to the four ball diamonds and shelter.  No 
telephone or natural gas services exist in the main bodies of the park.  A telephone 
switching station constructed in the later part of the 1980s is located to the west of 
the entry drive, south of the former McGaw farm house. 

McGaw Park Well Nitrate Level

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

1985 1993 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

Year

(m
g/

l)

Source:  WI DNR

Figure 4-11: McGaw Park Nitrate Levels



Intentionally Left Blank.



 

Chapter 5: Implementation 



McGaw Park Master Plan

Implementation

 5-2

Introduction

This section of the McGaw Park Master Plan is intended to provide the City of 
Fitchburg with a guide for implementation actions related to park improvements 
suggested in Chapter 3, The Master Plan.  This element identifi es the amenities 
and actions that the City will implement to achieve the Goals, Objectives and 
Policies (Chapter 2) outlined within this Plan. 
 
Plan Adoption
As a part of the development and adoption of the McGaw Park Master Plan, 
the City of Fitchburg held numerous public meetings and collected public and 
committee input beginning in March 2011.  This included one visioning session, 
one park tour, two open houses, one public hearing, approximately 20 committee 
meetings, two public comment periods, and two surveys.  The adoption process 
included approvals by the Park Commission, Plan Commission and Common 
Council. 

Implementation Recommendations
Figure 5-1 provides a guide for the City of Fitchburg as to the timeframe for 
major actions or amenities that may be completed to implement the McGaw 
Park Master Plan. It should be noted that constraints or priorities placed on City 
policy makers and staff may affect the recommended implementation timeframe 
as presented.  In addition, this plan provides fl exibility to the Park Commission to 
alter amenity types and modify locations to meet the changing recreation needs 
and circumstances of a growing community.  Therefore, the implementation 
timeframe and recommendations may be amended after further detailed planning 
or resource analysis become available.

One potential constraint that may infl uence the implementation timeframe is the 
occurrence and timing of the west and south parkland additions.  These additions 
are called for in the McGaw Park Neighborhood Plan, but at this time it is 
unknown if or when the land will be dedicated or accepted for park purposes. 

Figure 5-1 has three different columns of information, described as follows:

Category: The list of recommended actions by the City is divided into four 
different categories based on the different elements of the Master Plan.

Recommended Action/Amenity: The second column lists the actual action or 
amenity creation to be undertaken by the City to implement the goals, objectives 
and policies of the McGaw Park Master Plan.

Implementation Timeframe: The third column states the suggested timeframe 
each action or amenity is to be completed in a stated sequence. The City of 
Fitchburg has broken down the timeframe into Near Term, Mid to Long Term, 
Phase In, and Ongoing.  For new park addition areas, the timeframe applies to 
the time after which the property is acquired for the park.   As noted earlier, the 
timing of amenity installation may be adjusted by the Park Commission.



McGaw Park Master Plan

Implementation

5-3

Near Term- approximately 1-5 years
Mid to Long Term- approximately 5-20 years
Phase In- timing is undetermined and requires further study
Ongoing- continues over time

Figure 5-1: Recommended Implementation Timeframe

Existing Park Property

Category Recommended Action/Amenity Implementation Timeframe 
Convert half basketball court to full 
court

Near Term

Interim great lawn Near Term
Horizontal climbing wall Mid to Long Term
Nature center and outdoor area Mid to Long Term
Observation tower Mid to Long Term
Disc golf course Mid to Long Term
Evaluate traffic calming features Near Term

Improve/add parking lot and entry drive 
lighting

Near Term

New paved multi-use trail (Lacy Rd to 
soccer field)

Near Term

New paved multi-use trail (soccer field 
to shelters and south park entrance)

Phase In

Pedestrian level lighting of major multi-
use trails

Phase In

Create and implement a woodlot 
management plan

Near Term and Ongoing

Continue management of prairie 
restoration area

Ongoing

Renovate existing shelter/public 
services

Near Term

Potential West Park Addition

Category Recommended Action/Amenity Implementation Timeframe 
(After Ownership)

Recreation Picnic area Near Term

Playground Near Term
Great lawn Near Term
Open recreation areas Near Term
Tennis courts Near Term
Half basketball court Near Term
New paved multi-use trails Phase In
Pedestrian level lighting of major multi-
use trails

Phase In

Access driveway and lighting Phase In
Natural
Environment

Prairie restoration/rain garden Near Term

Infrastructure
and Buildings

Shelter with restrooms Near Term

Safety/
Accessibility

Natural
Environment

Recreation

Infrastructure
and Buildings

Nature center shelter and restrooms Mid to Long Term

Safety/
Accessibility



McGaw Park Master Plan

Implementation

 5-4

Implementation Funding Sources

Capital Improvement Program:  The Capital Improvement Program (CIP) is a 
fi ve-year plan which identifi es capital projects and equipment purchases, provides 
a planning schedule, and identifi es options for fi nancing the plan. The CIP is one 
way the City of Fitchburg can monitor and implement projects detailed in the 
McGaw Park Master Plan.

Benefi ts of a CIP include the systematic evaluation of all potential projects 
at the same time, ability to consolidate projects to reduce borrowing costs or 
stabilize debt, and its use as an economic development tool. The City of Fitchburg 
monitors, develops and adopts a fi ve-year Capital Improvement Program every 
year.

Parkland Dedication:  With the anticipated development of the McGaw Park 
Neighborhood, parkland dedication is a possible mechanism for expanding 
McGaw Park to the west and south.  Persons subdividing lands within the City 
are required to dedicate suffi cient land area to provide adequate park, playground, 
recreation, and open space to meet the needs to be created by and to be provided 
for the land development, land division, or subdivision. The City of Fitchburg 
Land Division Ordinance sets standards for the amount of parkland to be 
dedicated, which is based on the number of residential dwelling units within a 
development.  The Land Division Ordinance also requires a developer/subdivider 
to pay a parkland improvement fee to be utilized for the construction of park 
facilities and it requires the dedication of street frontage for dedicated parkland.

Plan Update

The McGaw Park Master Plan is intended as a long-term plan to meet current 
recreation needs and anticipate longer term needs of existing and future park 
users.  However, it is expected that the plan will require an update some time 
after the establishment of the McGaw Park Neighborhood to ensure that McGaw 
Park is continuing to provide quality services and amenities for residents of the 
immediate neighborhoods and greater Fitchburg community. 

Potential South Park Addition

Category Recommended Action/Amenity Implementation Timeframe 
(After Ownership)

Recreation Open recreation area Near Term
Labyrinth Near Term

New paved multi-use trails Phase In
Pedestrian level lighting of major multi-
use trails

Phase In

Access driveway and lighting Phase In
Parking area Phase In

Natural
Environment

Prairie restoration/oak opening Near Term

Safety/
Accessibility



 

Appendices 



Appendix A 

McGaw Park Master PlanA - 2

O
riginal Vegetation C

over of W
isconsin

0
7000

14000
21000

ft.

Legend

This m
ap is a user generated static output from

 an Internet m
apping site and is for general

reference only.  D
ata layers that appear on this m

ap m
ay or m

ay not be accurate, current, or
otherw

ise reliable.  TH
IS

 M
A

P
 IS

 N
O

T TO
 B

E
 U

S
E

D
 FO

R
 N

A
V

IG
A

TIO
N

.

N
otes: The original vegetation cover data w

as digitized from
 a 1976 m

ap created
from

 land survey notes w
ritten in the m

id-1800s w
hen W

isconsin w
as first

surveyed.  This digital version of the original vegetation cover m
ap can be used to

identify regional changes in land cover since the tim
e w

hen the state w
as first

Scale: 1:74,267



McGaw Park Master Plan A - 3

Appendix B



McGaw Park Master PlanA - 4

Appendix B



McGaw Park Master Plan A - 5

Appendix B



McGaw Park Master PlanA - 6

Appendix B



McGaw Park Master Plan A - 7

Appendix B



McGaw Park Master PlanA - 8

Appendix B



McGaw Park Master Plan A - 9

Appendix B



McGaw Park Master PlanA - 10

Appendix B



McGaw Park Master Plan A - 11

Appendix B



McGaw Park Master PlanA - 12

Appendix B



McGaw Park Master Plan A - 13

Appendix B



McGaw Park Master PlanA - 14

Appendix B



McGaw Park Master Plan A - 15

Appendix B



McGaw Park Master PlanA - 16

Appendix C

The WIDNR web site provides caution and recommendations when the nitrate 
level is 10 mg/l or greater.  It reads:

When laboratory tests determine that water contains 10 milligrams per liter 
nitrate-nitrogen, the following are recommended: 

1. Do not give water to infants less than 6 months of age or the use the  
 water to prepare infant formula.

2. Avoid drinking the water on a daily basis during pregnancy.

3. Do not attempt to remove nitrate level by boiling water.  This will only  
 concentrate the nitrate making levels even higher.

4. Seek medical help immediately if the skin of an infant appears bluish or  
 gray in color.  Sometimes the color change is fi rst noticed around the  
 mouth, or on the hands and feet.

5. Identify the nitrate source and take action to reduce contamination.  
 Remedial actions may include reducing fertilizer use, improving 
 manure handling methods, pumping septic tanks or upgrading wells.

6. Limit your daily intake if you have chronic health problems that   
 increase your sensitivity to nitrate, or if you are concerned about   
 scientifi c uncertainty regarding the health effects of long-term exposure  
 to nitrate contaminated water.

Appendix C



 

References 



References 

R - 2 McGaw Park Master Plan

Text, Map, and Graphic References

Brown, Frederick J. 1973.  Samuel McGaw Property Appraisal.

Fitchburg, Wisconsin. 2009. City of Fitchburg Comprehensive Plan. Approved by 
the Fitchburg Plan Commission. <http://www.city.fi tchburg.wi.us/planning_zoning/
comprehensive.php>

Fitchburg Bicentennial Committee. 1976. Fitchburg: A History. 

Fitchburg, Wisconsin. 2009. McGaw Park Neighborhood Plan.
<http://www.city.fi tchburg.wi.us/departments/cityHall/planning/documents/
Appendix_A_McGaw_Plan.pdf> 

Fitchburg, Wisconsin. 2010. Comprehensive Park, Open Space, and 
Recreation Plan.   <http://www.city.fi tchburg.wi.us/departments/
cityHall/parksRecreationForestryNaturalResources/documents/
AdoptedCompParkOpenSpaceandRecPlan2010-2015.pdf>

Fitchburg, Wisconsin. 2011. McGaw Park Visioning Survey Report.  

Dane Co. Regional Plan Commission. 1980. 1980 Aerial Photograph. Fitchburg, 
Wisconsin Planning Department File

Dane Co. Regional Plan Commission. 1990. 1990 Aerial Photograph. Fitchburg, 
Wisconsin Planning Department File

Dane Co. Regional Plan Commission. 1995. 1995 Aerial Photograph. Fitchburg, 
Wisconsin Planning Department File

Dane Co. Regional Plan Commission.  2000.  2000 Aerial Photograph. Fitchburg, 
Wisconsin GIS File

Dane Co. Regional Plan Commission.  2005.  2005 Aerial Photograph. Fitchburg, 
Wisconsin GIS File

Dane County Title Company.  Abstract of Title.  



References

R - 3McGaw Park Master Plan

Fly Dane.  2010.  2010 Aerial Photograph. Fitchburg, Wisconsin GIS File

Goldin, Bruce and Barry Rubin, 1974. Fitchburg Park Study:  Analysis and Design.

Healy, Mike, and Luke Sanders.  2011.  Tree and Vegetation Survey: McGaw Park 
and S Johnson Woodlands.  BioLogic Environmental Consulting.  

Natural Resources Conservation Service.  2010.  Web Soil Survey.  <http://
websoilsurvey.nrcs.usda.gov/app/HomePage.htm>

Purdue University Department of Horticulture and Landscape Architecture. 2000. 
What is Loam? <http://www.hort.purdue.edu/ext/loam.html>

Trechter, David, Dennis Parks, and Shelly Hadley. 2006. City of Fitchburg 
Comprehensive Planning Survey Report. U.W. River Falls and UW Extension 
Survey Research Center.  

Town of Fitchburg. 1974.  Town of Fitchburg Development Plan.

United States Environmental Protection Agency. 1996.  Federal Safe Drinking 
Water Act. < http://water.epa.gov/lawsregs/rulesregs/sdwa/index.cfm>
 

United States National Parks Service. 2008. Land and Water Conservation Fund 
Manual <http://www.nps.gov/lwcf/manual/lwcf.pdf>

University of Wisconsin-Madison Department of Soil Science. n.d.  Dane County 
Soil Descriptions. <http://mmas-mapping.soils.wisc.edu/soil_descriptions/dane_
soil_descriptions.html>

Wisconsin Administrative Code. 2010.  Chapter NR 809: Safe Drinking Water. 
<http://legis.wisconsin.gov/rsb/code/nr/nr809.pdf>

Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources [WIDNR].  1990.  Original Vegetation 
of Wisconsin. 

Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources [WIDNR]. 2011. Wisconsin 
Outdoor Recreation Demand Report. <http://dnr.wi.gov/planning/scorp/pdfs/
WIDemandReport.pdf> 



References 

R - 4 McGaw Park Master Plan

Photograph References

Front Cover
All: City of Fitchburg Parks Department

Introduction Cover
Large photo: City of Fitchburg Parks Department
Three small photos: Brown, 1973
 
Page 1 - 2
Photo: Aaron Widmer - City of Fitchburg Planning Intern

Page 1 - 4
Photo: City of Fitchburg Parks Department

Page 1 - 6
Photo: City of Fitchburg Parks Department

Page 1 - 9 
Photo: Aaron Widmer - City of Fitchburg Planning Intern

Page 1 - 11
Photo: City of Fitchburg Parks Department

Page 1 - 12
Photo: City of Fitchburg Parks Department

Page 1 - 13
Photo: Aaron Widmer - City of Fitchburg Planning Intern
  
Page 1 - 14
Photo: Fly Dane, 2010

Page 1 - 15
Photo: Aaron Widmer - City of Fitchburg Planning Intern

Page 1 - 17
Both photos: Brown, 1973

Page 1 - 18
Both photos: Brown, 1973



References

R - 5McGaw Park Master Plan

Page 1 - 19
Photo: City of Fitchburg Parks Department

Page 1 - 20
Photo: City of Fitchburg Parks Department

Page 1 - 22
Photo: Aaron Widmer - City of Fitchburg Planning Intern

Page 1 - 23
Photo: Aaron Widmer - City of Fitchburg Planning Intern

Page 1 - 24
Photo: Aaron Widmer - City of Fitchburg Planning Intern

Goals Objectives and Policies Cover
All photos: Susan Sloper - City of Fitchburg Community Planner

Page 2 - 2
Photo: Aaron Widmer - City of Fitchburg Planning Intern

Page 2 - 3
Photo: Aaron Widmer - City of Fitchburg Planning Intern

The Master Plan Cover
Large photo: City of Fitchburg Parks Department
Left photo: Cat Scott, Somerville Voices, 2009
Center photo: Arbor Day Foundation
Right photo: City of Fitchburg Parks Department

Page 3 - 4
Photo: MiamiKids.com, 2011
Photo: I’ON Group
Photo: Jerry Reynolds, naturalsciences.org, 2006
Photo: Marnie Hall, biking-in-manhattan.com
Photo: Leelanau News, leelanaunews.com, 2009

Page 3 - 5
Photo: Monroe County, New York, 2011

Natural Resources, Transportation, and Utilities Cover
Large photo: Aaron Widmer - City of Fitchburg Planning Intern
Left photo: Aaron Widmer - City of Fitchburg Planning Intern
Center photo: City of Fitchburg Planning Department



References 

R - 6 McGaw Park Master Plan

Right photo: City of Fitchburg Parks Department

Page 4 - 2
Photo: City of Fitchburg Parks Department

Page 4 - 4
Photo: City of Fitchburg Parks Department

Page 4 - 11
Photo: Aaron Widmer - City of Fitchburg Planning Intern

Page 4 - 14
Photo: Aaron Widmer - City of Fitchburg Planning Intern

Implementation Cover
Larger photo: City of Fitchburg Planning Department
Left photo: City of Fitchburg Planning Department
Center photo: City of Fitchburg Planning Department
Right photo: City of Fitchburg Parks Department

Appendices Cover
Large photo: Jeff Kraemer - Natural Resources Consulting, June 2008
Bottom left photo: City of Fitchburg Planning Department
Bottom middle photo: Molly Fifi eld Murray - Arboretum Staff
Bottom right photo: Aaron Widmer - City of Fitchburg Planning Intern

Reference Cover
Large photo: City of Fitchburg Parks Department
Three small photos: Kristin McConnell - City of Fitchburg Planning Intern









 

CITY OF FITCHBURG 
Parks, Recreation & Forestry 

5520 Lacy Road 
Fitchburg, WI  53711 

Scott Endl, Director 
608-270-4288 

Scott.endl@city.fitchburg.wi.us  
 

 
 
Memo 
To:  Common Council 
        Finance Committee 
From:  Endl – PRF 
Ref:  Recreation Program Fee Policy 
Date:  October 25, 2011 
 
 
In an effort to gain a clearer understanding of current recreational program fees collected 
and provide guidelines for future program fee charges staff has undertaken the task of 
creating a recreational program fee policy.  As part of this process staff has gathered 
information from neighboring communities so comparisons could be considered.  This 
information, along with the consideration of the City’s 2009 Recreational and Senior 
Services Program Needs Study and 3 of this study’s 26 identified goals, has assisted 
staff in drafting this proposed recreational fee policy.   
 
When considering all of this information it must be stated that not every community runs 
their Recreation Department in identical fashion.  Information that is provided as part of 
this policy is as close to comparing apples to apples. 
 
 



 

F:\DEPTMNTS\PARKREC\PARKS\Rec Program Fee Policy\R-81-11 referralsheet.doc 

 
City of Fitchburg 
Committee or Commission Referral  
Direct Referral Initiated by:  
Direct Referral Approved by:  
 
Date Referred:  October 25, 2011 Ordinance Number:  
Date to Report Back:  November 8, 2011 Resolution Number: R-81-11  
Sponsored by: Mayor Drafted by: Endl - PRF 
 
TITLE: Recreational Program Fee Policy 
 
Background:  
 
The City of Fitchburg, in late 2008 and early 2009, conducted a Recreational and Senior Services 
Program Needs Study.  This studies intent was to evaluate current programs and services 
provided thru the Recreation and Senior Citizens Departments along with forecasting future 
program needs.  One result of this study was the development of 26 goals.  Goals 5, 6 and 7 are 
directly related to cost recovery philosophy and adopting a specific recreational program pricing 
philosophy.  Also included within this study document was an 8 step Pyramid Methodology 
process which helped determine this program pricing philosophy.  A review of all these steps is 
included in the determination of our Recreation Program Fee Policy.  A result of this work is 
before you for consideration.   
 
 

Order Referred To Staff Contact Place on Agenda 
For 

Action Taken 
On Referral 

1 Park Commission Endl November 3, 2011  

2 Finance Committee Roach November 8, 2011  

3     

4     
 
Amendments: 



F:\DEPTMNTS\PARKREC\PARKS\Rec Program Fee Policy\Resolution R-81-11.doc 

Mayor Shawn Pfaff Parks 
Introduced by Drafted by 
 
Park Commission and Finance Committee October 25, 2010 
Referred to Date 
 

Resolution R-81-11 
 

RESOLUTION APPROVING RECREATION FEE POLICY 
  

WHEREAS, A Program Needs Study was commissioned by the City of Fitchburg in 
2009 intended to review current programs and services provided through the Recreation Division 
of the Parks, Recreation and Forestry Department; and 

 
 WHEREAS, a result of this study 26 Goals were identified with Goals #5, #6, and #7 
being related to Adopting a Subsidy Policy and Cost Recovery Philosophy; and 
 
 WHEREAS, a current City of Fitchburg Recreation Program Fee Analysis was 
performed including research on comparable neighboring recreation fee charges; and  
 
 WHEREAS, additional analysis performed including comparable overall recreation 
department budgets and percentage of total budget expenses recovered; and 
 
 WHEREAS, a Recreation Fee Policy was drafted by staff; and 
 
 WHEREAS, The Finance Committee has reviewed this fee policy and considered input 
from the Parks Commission: and 
  
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Fitchburg Common Council that the 
enclosed Recreation Program Fee Policy, developed by the Recreation Department staff; and  
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that these parameters be implemented December 1, 
2011; and 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that this Recreation Fee Policy November 2011, 
attached is hereby approved.  
 
Adopted this 8th day of November, 2011. 
 
 
Approved By: ___________________________ 
   Shawn Pfaff, Mayor  
 
 
Attested By: ___________________________ 
   Linda Cory, City Clerk         



Draft Recreation Program Fee Policy 

I. Purpose  
It is the purpose of this policy to provide guidelines necessary to charge a reasonable fee to participants 
of recreation programs.   

II. Policy  
It is the policy of the City of Fitchburg to open participation in Parks and Recreation Department programs 
to anyone and charge fees to participants of those programs to meet cost recovery guidelines outlined in this 
policy. The fees charged to participants of recreation programs shall be established by the Parks and 
Recreation Department to meet the guidelines provided in this policy.   

III. Definitions  
1. Youth – age 17 and under. Adult – age 18-54  
2. Special needs – individuals of all ages who require special accommodations due to physical and/or  
    mental disabilities.   
3. Sports Team – Group of individuals who participate as a group in a designated sport, i.e., basketball,  
    soccer, baseball, flag football, etc.   
4. Administrative costs – General cost of administrating programs such as clerical staff, legal counsel, 
   administrative overhead, payroll and finance functions, capital improvements, etc.   
5. Direct Operating costs – Costs directly related to the operation of a program.  These costs 
    include official/referees/summer recreational staff and supplies.  
6. Indirect Operating costs – Costs indirectly related to the operation of a program.  These costs  
    include:  Full Time Recreational and Park maintenance staff time along with outdoor  
    recreational facility preparation materials.  
7. Resident -Any person who lives within the limits of the City of Fitchburg when a program is held at a  
    City of Fitchburg facility or Verona Area School District when a program is held at a VASD facility.   
8. Non-resident -Any person who lives outside of the limits of the City of Fitchburg when a program is held at          
a City of Fitchburg facility or outside the Verona Area School District when a program is held at a VASD 
facility.  

IV.  Cost Recovery  
1. Youth and summer instructional programs and sports programs, as a whole, shall recover 80% of their 
    direct operating costs.  Exception: Any new or pilot program shall be required to recover 75% of the 
    operating costs during the first two years of the program.    
2. Adult sports programs, as a whole, will recover 150% of their direct operating costs.      
3. Special Event programs, as a whole, shall recover 45-55% of the operating costs of those programs thru  
    fees or sponsorships/donations.  
4. Contractual program fees will be set-up at an industry standard formula.  The industry standard formula                
that the Recreation Department currently follows is an 80/20 split.  80% of revenues, after expenses, are                 
paid to the instructor; the remaining 20% is retained by the department. 

 5.  The Recreation Department should recover 100% of the direct operating expenses associated  
                 with all Recreational program offerings.  The categories for these offerings include youth and adult  
                 recreation along with contractual programs. 
 



V.  Fees  
1. User fees will be charged through team entry fees, individual fees, and/or user fees.   
2. All youth and adult program participants requesting to register after the deadline will be accepted if  
   available spots remain in the program and a late processing fee of $10.00 is paid. Exception: All adult  
   sports teams requesting to register after the deadline will be accepted if the team meets the league criteria  
   and a late processing fee of $25.00 is paid.   
3. All program fees will be established based on the cost recovery guidelines.  
4. Fees may be adjusted per market analysis.   
5. Participants having financial difficulties may apply for fee assistance as outlined in the Recreation     
Scholarship Program (Financial Assistance Program).   

VI.  Falsification of Information  
The registrant will be removed from all registered programs and all fees will be forfeited if the 
registrant falsified information on a registration form.   

VII.  Refunds  
1. A full refund will be credited/issued to the participant for any program cancelled by the Parks and 
    Recreation Department.    
2. A full refund will be credited/issued to the participant if a program time, date, or location is changed by the  
    Parks and Recreation Department and the participant are unable to attend because of the change.   
3. A refund will be credited/issued to the participant one week prior to the first meeting date of the 
    program.  Refund requests after a program has started will be reviewed on a case by case basis and a pro- 
    rated refund may be credited/issued.   
4. A team fee will be refunded until the deadline for the team registration.  After the deadline, the team fee will  
    be refunded only if there is another team willing to fill that spot in the league.  Refunds will not be granted 
    for any reason after the playing schedules are sent from the Parks and Recreation Department.   
5. Refund requests, if applicable, can be credited to the family account in the registration software program. 
    Requests for a check refund will be subject to a $5.00 processing fee for each participant and program.       
6. Late fees paid by either teams or individuals will not be refunded.   
7. Refunds of $5.00 or less will not be processed, but will be credited to the family account.   

VIII.  Review of Policy  
This policy will be reviewed by the Parks Commission and any changes or revisions will be made 
accordingly.  























                           CITY OF FITCHBURG PRF 
 
 
 
 
 

Recreation Program Revenue Analysis 
 
 

 
2009 
Youth 
  (-) 
Includes 
Summer 
Staff 
 

 
2009 
Youth 
  (+) 

 
2009 
Youth 
% 0f 
Direct 
cost 

 
2009 
Adult 
  (-) 

 
2009 
Adult 
  (+) 

 
2009 
Adult 
% 0f 
Direct 
cost 

 
2009 
80/20 
  (-) 

 
2009 
80/20 
  (+) 
   
 

 
2009 
80/20 
% 0f 
Direct 
cost 

 
2009 
Total 
% 0f 
Direct 
cost 

 
70,136 
 

 
55,964 

 
80% 

 
5,382 

 
11,075 

 
205% 

 
40,733 

 
50,916 

 
125% 

 
(+) 117,955
(-) 116,251
     
   101% 

 
2010 
Youth 
  (-) 
Includes 
Summer 
Staff 
 

 
2010 
Youth 
  (+) 

 
2010 
Youth 
% 0f 
Direct 
cost 

 
2010 
Adult 
  (-) 

 
2010 
Adult 
  (+) 

 
2010 
Adult 
% 0f 
Direct 
cost 

 
2010 
80/20 
  (-) 

 
2010 
80/20 
  (+) 
   
 

 
2010 
80/20 
% 0f 
Direct 
cost 

 
2010 
Total 
% 0f 
Direct 
cost 

 
65,434 
 

 
51,502 

 
79% 

 
6,216 

 
11,400 

 
183% 

 
48,910 

 
61,137 

 
125% 

 
(+) 124,039
(-) 120,560
 
  103% 

 
Thru 9/30 
 
2011 
Youth 
  (-) 
Includes 
Summer 
Staff 
 

 
Thru 9/30 
 
2011 
Youth 
  (+) 

 
Thru 9/30 
 
2011 
Youth 
% 0f 
Direct 
cost 

 
Thru 9/30 
 
2011 
Adult 
  (-) 

 
Thru 9/30 
 
2011 
Adult 
  (+) 

 
Thru 9/30 
 
2011 
Adult 
% 0f 
Direct 
cost 

 
Thru 9/30 
 
2011 
80/20 
  (-) 

 
Thru 9/30 
 
2011 
80/20 
  (+) 
   
 

 
Thru 9/30 
 
2011 
80/20 
% 0f 
Direct 
cost 

 
Thru 9/30 
 
2011 
Total 
% 0f 
Direct 
cost 

 
48,807 
 

 
46,958 

 
96% 

 
6,616 

 
10,580 

 
160% 

 
36,534 

 
45,667 

 
125% 

 
(+) 103,205
(-) 91,957 
 
   112% 
 

 
 



 

CITY OF FITCHBURG 
Parks, Recreation & Forestry 

5520 Lacy Road 
Fitchburg, WI  53711 

Scott Endl, Director 
608-270-4288 

Scott.endl@city.fitchburg.wi.us  
 
 
 
 
 

Community Registration Fee Comparison 
 
 
 
 
 

Activity 
 

Monona Verona Sun Prairie C.G. Fitchburg 

Baseball 
 

K-2  35/45 
3-4   40/45 
5-6   55/60 
7       80/85 
8      100/110 

 
 
 
 
K-8     145 

 
 
K-6    24/36 

 
K-4    35/70 
5-6     50/100 
7         75/150 

 
K-4   25/35 
 
 
5-8     45/55 
 

Flag Football 
 

K-1   40/45 
2-6    50/55 
 

 
K-6     55/70 

 
K-6   45/65 

 
K-6     35/70 

 
K-6  45/55 

Hoops 
 

1-2    40/50 
3-4    45/55 
5-8    50/60 
 

K-2     22/37 
3-4      40/55 
5-6      50/65 

 
 
K-6     50 

K-2     35/45 
3-4      45/55 
5-6      50/60 

1-2    25/35 
3-4    40/50 
5-6    50/60 

Soccer 
 

K-1   45 
2-3    60 
 

 
 
K-4     30/45 

 
 
K-4     70/80 

K-1     50 
2         65 
 
3-8      80 

K-1    25/35 
 
2-4     40/50 

 



 
Sun Prairie 26,300 
2009 Rec Budget  $477,344  Total $148,895  Revenue 31% of total cost 

 

2010 Rec Budget $464,488  Total $141,140 Revenue 30% 
 

2011 Rec Budget $461,150 Total $145,889 Projected 32% 
 

 
Fitchburg 25,260 
2009 Rec Budget  $260,401  Total $117,955  Revenue 45% of total cost 

 

2010 Rec Budget $269,962  Total $124,039 Revenue 46% 
 

2011 Rec Budget $270,920 Total $127,000 Projected 47% 
 

2012 Rec Proposed $289,323 Total $135,000 Projected  47% 
 

 
Middleton 17,442 
2009 Rec Budget  $242,876  Total $120,991  Revenue 50% of total cost 

 

2010 Rec Budget $248,657  Total $123,142 Revenue 49% 
 

2011 Rec Budget $248,397 Total $119,000 Projects 48% 
 

 
Fort Atkinson 12,190 
2010 Rec Budget $274,000  Total $76,000 Revenue 28% of total cost 

 

2011 Rec Budget $280,000 Total $80,000 Projected 29% 
 

 
Verona 11,592 
2009 Rec Budget  $222,575  Total $115,410  Revenue 52% of total cost 

 

2010 Rec Budget $213,540  Total $133,004 Revenue 62% 
 

 
Monona 8,214 
2009 Rec Budget  $182,965  Total $62,400  Revenue 34% of total cost 

 

2010 Rec Budget $182,354  Total $64,528 Revenue 35% 
 

 
Jefferson 7,865 
2009 Rec Budget  $172,600  Total $33,400  Revenue 19% of total cost 

 

2010 Rec Budget $171,900  Total $37,500 Revenue 22% 
 

2011 Rec Budget $176,500 Total $37,000 Projects 21% 
 

 
Cottage Grove 5,561 
2009 Rec Budget  $150,787  Total No find  Revenue % of total cost 

 

2010 Rec Budget $160,547  Total $62,995 Revenue 39% 
 

 



 

CITY OF FITCHBURG 
Parks, Recreation & Forestry 

5520 Lacy Road 
Fitchburg, WI  53711 

Scott Endl, Director 
608-270-4288 

Scott.endl@city.fitchburg.wi.us  
 
 
 
 

Community comparisons Staff - Programs offered 
 

 
Community 
 

FT staff 
equivalent 

Total core  
recreation 
Program offered 

Number of  
80/20 programs  
Offered  
(these programs are  
included in the total  
programs offered) 

Sun Prairie 
 

3.5 28 5 

Fitchburg 
 

2.0 36 18 

Middleton 
 

1.75 24 1 

Fort Atkinson 
 

2.0 22 2 

Verona 
 

2.0 27 6 

Monona 
 

2.0 29 0 

Jefferson 
 

1.75 22 9 

Cottage Grove 
 

1.75 17 6 

 



Fitchburg Recreation Dept. – Program Planning Report 
 
Program:  Youth Baseball / Softball 

Dates:  Times:   Fee:   

Location:   

Min: Max: Registered:   
   
Program Income:   See Attachment 

Program Expenses: 

1.  Staffing     

Umpires $ 621.00 

  
 

         TOTAL = $ 621.00  

2.  Supplies & Equipment 

Item            Qty           Unit $     =   Total    

Shirts   $ 2,054.25 

Hats / Visors   $ 1,256.00 

Misc Equip   $ 1,903.50 

    
 

         TOTAL = $ 5, 213.75 

  
 

3.  Office Supplies & Publishing    4. Travel     

  n/a        n/a   

 TOTAL = $ 0       TOTAL = $ 0   
 

Program Expense Summary      Program Financial Statement 

 

   

  
 
 

Staff $ 621.00 

Supplies & Equip   $ 5,213.75 

Office Supplies $ 0.00 

Travel  $ 0.00 

TOTAL $ 5,834.75 

Income $ 7,140.25 

Expenses $ 5,834.75 

Balance $ 1,305.50 



Fitchburg Recreation Dept. – Program Planning Report 
 
Program:  Summer Programs (run by seasonal staff) Doesn’t include field trips. 

Dates:  2011 season Times:   Fee:  Varies 

Location:   

Min: Max: Registered:   
   
Program Income:   See Attachment 

Program Expenses: 

1.  Staffing     

9 summer seasonal recreation staff $ $28,272 

 $  
 

         TOTAL = $    

2.  Supplies & Equipment 

Item            Qty           Unit $     =   Total    

   $  

   $  

    

    
 

         TOTAL = $ 486.00    
 

3.  Office Supplies & Publishing    4. Travel     

  n/a        n/a   

 TOTAL = $ 0       TOTAL = $ 0   
 

Program Expense Summary      Program Financial Statement 

 

   

  
 
 

Staff $ 28,272.00 

Supplies & Equip   $  

Office Supplies $ 0.00 

Travel  $ 0.00 

TOTAL $ 746.00 

$29,018.00 

Income $ 19, 696.50 

Expenses $ 746.00 

$28,272.00 

Balance $ 18,950.50 

($10,067.50) 



Fitchburg Recreation Dept. – Program Planning Report 

Program:  Adult Spring Volleyball Leagues (Women’s, Coed Intermediate, Coed Power) 

Dates:  Times:   Fee:  $200 R / $250 NR 

Location:  Stoner Prairie School 

Min: Max: Registered:  24 teams 

Program Income:   See Attachment 

Program Expenses:

1.  Staffing     

Bill Hust - Referee $ 936.00 

Nancy Gille – Referee $ 1,872.00 

TOTAL = $ 2,808.00  

2.  Supplies & Equipment

Item            Qty           Unit $     =   Total    

T-Shirts (Bonus Night Champions)   $ 120.00 

League Champion Fee 3 $75.00 $ 225.00 

Volleyballs / misc equipment   $ 163.00 

    

TOTAL = $ 508.00   

3.  Office Supplies & Publishing    4. Travel     

  n/a        n/a  

TOTAL = $ 0       TOTAL = $ 0

Program Expense Summary      Program Financial Statement

   
Staff $ 2,808.00 

Supplies & Equip   $ 508.00 

Office Supplies $ 0.00 

Travel  $ 0.00 

TOTAL $ 3,316.00 

Income $ 5,450.00 

Expenses $ 3,316.00 

Balance $ 2,134.00 



Fitchburg Recreation Dept. – Program Planning Report 

Program:  Youth Volleyball Programs (Camps & Clinics) 

Dates:  Times:   Fee:  Varies 

Location:  Stoner Prairie School 

Min: Max: Registered:   

Program Income:   See Attachment 

Program Expenses:

1.  Staffing     

Cindy Hanson (Contractual: 80% or revenue after expenses are paid) $ 2,215.20 

 $  

TOTAL = $ 2,215.20   

2.  Supplies & Equipment

Item            Qty           Unit $     =   Total    

T-Shirts    $ 486.00 

   $  

    

    

TOTAL = $ 486.00    

3.  Office Supplies & Publishing    4. Travel     

  n/a        n/a  

TOTAL = $ 0       TOTAL = $ 0

Program Expense Summary      Program Financial Statement

   
Staff $ 2,215.20 

Supplies & Equip   $ 486.00 

Office Supplies $ 0.00 

Travel  $ 0.00 

TOTAL $ 2,701.20 

Income $ 3,255.00 

Expenses $ 2,701.20 

Balance $ 553.80 



 

F:\DEPTMNTS\COUNCIL\GRANICUS  DOCS\PRF\110311 meeting\referral R-80-11.doc  

 
City of Fitchburg 
Committee or Commission Referral  
Direct Referral Initiated by:  
Direct Referral Approved by:  
 
Date Referred: October 11, 2011 Ordinance Number:  
Date to Report Back: November 8, 2011 Resolution Number: R-80-11  
Sponsored by: Mayor Pfaff Drafted by:Parks & Public Works  
 
TITLE:  A Resolution Approving a Trail Pass Sales Agreement with the 

Friends of the Badger State Trail 
 
Background: Numerous Fitchburg residents have requested whether Fitchburg would be able to 
sell state trail passes to residents as a convenience when they’re coming in to pay other bills and 
conduct city business.  Staff from the Clerk’s Department has made contact with the DNR and 
Friends of the Badger State Trail and have worked out details for making state trail passes 
available for sale at City Hall. 
 

Order Referred To Staff Contact Place on Agenda 
For 

Action Taken
On Referral 

1 Park Commission Endl November 3, 2011  

2 Finance Committee Roach November 8, 2011  

3     

4     
 
Amendments: 



Shawn Pfaff, Mayor        Parks & PW Staff 
Introduced By Drafted By 
 
Park & Finance October 11, 2011 
Committee Date    
    

RESOLUTION R-80-11 
 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING A TRAIL PASS SALES AGREEMENT WITH THE 
FRIENDS OF THE BADGER STATE TRAIL 

 
WHEREAS, numerous Fitchburg residents have approached City staff requesting the ability to 
purchase State Trail Passes for use on State Trails in and around Fitchburg; and  
 
WHEREAS, Fitchburg staff members have been in contact with DNR officials and the Friends 
of the Badger State Trail and have worked out details for an agreement whereby Fitchburg could 
be an approved vendor for selling State Trail Passes; and  
 
WHEREAS, the ability for Fitchburg to sell State Trail Passes will provide a beneficial service to 
Fitchburg residents and promote recreational and commuter use of State Trails running through 
Fitchburg; and 
 
WHEREAS, staff from Fitchburg’s Parks and Public Works Departments have reviewed the 
proposed state trail pass sales program and associated Trail Pass Sales Agreement and 
recommend that the Common Council review and approve the Trail Pass Sales Agreement, 
 
NOW THEREFOR BE IT HEREBY RESOLVED, that the Common Council of the City of 
Fitchburg herewith approves the Trail Pass Sales Agreement between the City of Fitchburg and 
the Friends of the Badger State Trail and directs the Mayor and City Clerk to sign and execute 
this agreement on an annual basis;  
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that City staff are directed to assist with developing and 
implementing Fitchburg’s program for making state trail passes available for sale to local 
residents. 
 
Adopted by the Common Council of the City of Fitchburg this ___ day of November, 2011. 
 
     Approved By: _______________________________ 
        Shawn Pfaff, Mayor 
 
     Attested By: ________________________________ 
        Linda Cory, City Clerk 





F:\DEPTMNTS\COUNCIL\AGENDAS\PARKS\2011\Forestry Report 11-3-11.doc  
 - 1 - 

Forestry Report – November 3, 2011 
 
Project        Completion or Due Date 
1. Completed Manual Weed Removal & Spot Spray at Gorman Wayside Restoration  

           10/25/11 
 

2. Submitted Urban Forestry Grant Application for 2012    10/3/11 
 

3. Met with Eagle School Teachers to Discuss Prairie Restoration and Tree Planting Activities 
for Students at Gunflint Park       10/17/11  

    
4. Met with GeoPrime to Investigate Alternative Methods of Data Collection for Tree Inventory 

           10/20/11 
  

5. Biologic Worked w/ Volunteers at Briarwood Pk to Remove Woody Invasives in Prairie  
           10/20&21/12 

  
6. Worked with Adam Tierney & Volunteers to Remove Invasives in Seminole Glen Pk 

           10/22/11 
 

7. Verbal Agreement to Extend Contract with Herman Landscape for Spring 2012 Planting 
           10/25/11 

 
8. Operation Fresh Start to Nobel Woods Clean Up    10/25-27/11 

a. Remove and Treat Black Locust Sprouts 
b. Remove dead standing black locusts     

 
9. Arranged for Bucket Training for PW and Parks maintenance Crews  10/26/11 
 
10. Final Approval of 2891 Commerce Pk Dr - Hillside Park Restoration Project 10/28/11 
 
11. Submitted 14 Work Orders for Tree Work     10/31/11 

a. 11 Removals 
 

12. Seeding of Gorman Wayside       11/30/11 
 

13. Complete 2012 Spring Planting Plan      11/30/11 
 

14. Urban Forestry Grant Implementation      12/31/11 
a. Forest Analysis, EAB Implementation, Urban Forestry Inventory Goals 

i. Land cover model is put together, and have the IR data from Ayers. 
ii. Need to fine tune the model and then try the extraction process to pick out the Ash 

trees. 
1. the goal is to create a basic shape file of pervious and impervious land 

covers, water, and forest canopy that will allow the city to determine the 
number ash trees and density of ash canopy on private lands to provide the 
community with data to confirm ash tree liability in woodlots and on private 
property. 

 
15. Continue Development of Tree Preservation Ordinance    12/31/11 

 
16. Continuing Revision of 5 -Year Urban Forest Management Plan  Ongoing 
 
 
 

 



F:\DEPTMNTS\COUNCIL\AGENDAS\PARKS\2011\Forestry Report 11-3-11.doc  
 - 2 - 

17. Removals & Stump Grinding       
a. Remove declining or hazard trees       Ongoing 

i. Remove all flagging or declining ash trees    Ongoing 
 
18. Continue City Tree Inventory        Ongoing 

a. LTE updating inventory & entering data into GIS – Seminole Highlands  
b. LTE working to revise Oak Mapping Project  

i. locate specimen oaks >200 years old & enter data into GIS  Ongoing 
    

19. Miscellaneous Projects 
a. Participate in Neighborhood Development Plans as Necessary  Monthly 
Responded to more that 70 calls, visits, and e-mails from residents,   Monthly 
contractors, etc.   

 



 

CITY OF FITCHBURG 
Parks, Recreation & Forestry 

5520 Lacy Road 
Fitchburg, WI  53711 

Scott Endl, Director 
608-270-4288 

Scott.endl@city.fitchburg.wi.us  
 

 
 
Parks Report 
November 2012 
 

 Continue to meet with Planning staff on McGaw Park Master Plan Project 
 

 Began work on the 2011 Holiday Party to be held at the Community Center on Sunday, 
December 11th 

 
 Continue to attend CC/Senior Center construction update meetings – current date of 

completion is November 25th 
 

 Continuing to work internally on an encroachment policy 
 

 Recreation Director Sigl and I met with Alder Swaminathan to discuss the Recreation 
Program Fee Policy 

 
 Met with Ray Blum and Paul Fieber to discuss future kite flying programs and 

opportunities 
 

 Attended Public Safety Committee meeting in which the CC Use Policy was discussed 
 

 Attended October 27th Draft McGaw Park Master Plan Open House 
 
Respectfully 
Scott Endl 




